QUESTION TYPE IV:  ISSUE-SPOTTER

PROFESSOR’S COMMENTS & BEST STUDENT ANSWERS
Question 4B:  Sample Only; No Model Answers

Question 4F:  Model #1:  Will: There are problems with the will formalities observed.  One question is IV's competence.  He seemed to understand the disposition he was making, and the natural object of his bounty (so as to exclude him) and the value and extent of property.  However, he was only episodically lucid and appeared to be at least arguably under the influence of his young waitress.  She did attend him but it looks pretty suspicious that she dictated the will to the lawyer although she did leave when he signed it. on a formal level he was witnessed reading & signing and in most states 3 witnesses ok.  In addition the bequest to the hospital as well as Bunny suggests she may have been simply acting for him, as he asked.  The fact she got only a ski lodge (assuming she knew his worth and debt) lends credibility to her good intentions (non-gold digging) but assumes a lot.  In short will validity or rather revocability given circumstances is arguable.

Adverse Possession: B gained at least color-of-title after IVfs death (since no one had contested will).  She was there only 2 years but left for the next ten going back only the first summer.  Has she established AP if the will proves to be revocable, ergo invalid? Given her color of title, she most likely will not have to pay taxes and her time to establish AP is often lessened.

Did she actually possess: do enough? Certainly her initial occupation was sufficient.  She actually entered. If it is essentially a vacation home, she used it regularly, albeit by proxy thru friends, over the next decade and also paid to keep it up.  This should be enough.  Fact that she made $ from renting it ought to help her claim.  She was certainly subject to trespass action if prop. someone else's!!

Was her possession open and notorious.  Clearly to witness someone there, one would have to go either when the cleaning woman was about or when the guests were there.  But there was no attempt to hide, moreover had a prop been abandoned for a decade it would likely be discernable from the outside in so harsh an environment.  This cabin was being kept in repair as anyone on the land could have seen.

Was she exclusively using it.  No information as to anyone other than her, her employee and guests, and the son was never at the place at all.

Was her use continuous? As a vacation home.  No doubt. Ski lodges are usually occupied only seasonally.  As to the time needed that will vary with jurisdiction but is likely to be shortened by her C-of-T.

was her possession adverse & hostile.  Did she do about what an owner would be expected to do.  Seemingly so, as a

vacation home again.  It may help that her occupation was not in bad faith but because she assumed she had inherited it!! Most places do not care, however, about her state of mind.  Again the same issue if a Claim-of-Right jurisdiction her general behavior & color of title will help her.

Her real problem is whether the son's incapacity to check will make the case and exception to AP.  He was in the Peace Corps, arguably like the military.  Yet if he was in in 1983, he could have gotten out & checked (had to re​enlist to stay) in 1986.  If, given C of T, 7 years is enough, she could get AP despite the exception since son checks in 1993.

Sales to GS: The question here is whether or not she was conveying to them a marketable title, an implicit K term, of nearly all form real estate K's.  It is unlikely she was selling with a Quitclaim deed for $80,000!!

The G's were foolish to not inspect before signing but had been there in the winter.  This raises the question of whether she had defrauded them (or not) or whether she had some oblg. to disclose the negative aspects of the cabin. As to disclosure there is no indication that she made any fraudulent misreps.  So not defrauding them in that sense. Yet a court might find she had a duty to disclose (would if FL but no ski cabins in FL).

Re her duty: no question she knew about criminals & gnats (was kept aware of gnats by friends) & they were a real problem else she could have stayed.  Probably it affected value as year round or summer home but if only ski lodge maybe not.  Only observable if a summer visitor (and she ought to have known they had gone only in winter) when they could not readily observe.  However, not clear she could know it was not likely to be known to G's.  If same circle of friends & previous meeting w/ cleaning person, she might assume they knew.  In any case ct might not let the G's out but require only cost offset. (if any were applicable, say "comp's" in area).

Re title as marketable: clearly a cloud on it once son reappeared.  This may permit the G's to rescind.  A court might however simply require B to 'quiet title via API before closing (or make sale conditional on that) as equitable solution/specific performance.

To truly quiet title will require B defend to successfully defend re will validity or to win an AP action. She need not win both since their effort will be the same. If Sid prevailed on both, no question G's could rescind and he gets ski cabin.

Question 4F:  Model #2:  Will Contest - Assuming Sid's action is not barred by Statute of Limitations (which it probably is) and/or laches (but he hasn't been here all this time), the question is whether will was valid.  Sid will challenge on several grounds:

(a)Capacity of testator: fact that IV had AIDS is very bad b/c of mental/neurological probs. associated w/ disease & medication.  This was not helped by his statement after signing re "creep of a son getting nothing & its a good thing the toads have won!!" (What does he mean by that? Seems like gibberish).  On the other hand, taken as a whole, stint. clearly indicated that he knew the nature of his bounty (his son), nature of his property, at least $2 million worth of it - and knew he did not want his son to get it.  Plus everyone watched him read the will.  Perhaps, the toad stint. was some inside joke.  However, he did fall asleep immediately after making the statement.  It is possible he could have been lucid during reading & signing & "lost it" afterwards.  Also - son in Peace Corps vs.  IV the playboy.  IV could have really believed Sid was a creep b/c he disliked his lifestyle.

(b) Fraud, duress, undue influence: No one was holding a gun to IV's head - so no duress.  Although it is possible that somehow doctors would make sure he lived longer.  But, this cuts the other way b/c he left the $2 mil to hospital so from Dels perspective they would be better off if he were dead.  No trickery or deceit is apparent. I.V. did read the will before signing.  It was drafted by his lawyer (as opposed to hospital's, for example).  On the other hand, a question regarding undue influence might arise re Bunny.  They had developed what could arguably be considered a confidential relationship: she was his last love, at his bedside in his dying moments night and day. And Bunny not Sid called lawyer w/ instructions re the will. However, it makes little sense for Bunny to call the lawyer w/ false instructions and leave $2 mil in cash to hospital. All she got was a cabin she didn't even like! But wait! The will left the "rest of IV's estate" to Bunny.  It is entirely possible that she thought his estate was worth much more than $2 mil and a little piece of land w/ a cabin. This is especially the case where they met only just before he got sick - in a nightclub where he was a noted actor and playboy.  She may have assumed he was worth much more.

Execution of the Will (Formalities):
First, most statutes (Fla. is a state w/ one) require the witnesses to sign in the presence of each other and in the presence of the testator.  Since they did not sign until after he fell asleep, did they sign in his presence? (guess) you could interp statute not to require Testator to be awake (he was awake when he signed & they all saw).  This just goes to self-proving wills and there are other ways to get around.  

The big question is whether or not the witnesses were interested (note-Bunny was out of room so she is not a problem - but that also means no one else was present to witness signing of will except hospital staff).  The witnesses were the chief of staff & 2 nurses @ hospital to which IV left $2 million.  It could be argued that b/c their jobs depend on gifts such as I.V.s to a certain extent, they were disqualified as interested parties.  However, this makes little sense when, as creditors they were in a better position to collect $ from estate than anyone else.  Besides, $ did not go to them personally, so how could they really be interested?

Assuming Sid wins on the will revocation, Bunny may try to claim adverse possession re property.  I'm also assuming that 9 years is sufficient time under A/P (adverse possession statute of jurisdiction.

Actual Possession\continuous since Bunny has only physically been there twice, she probably does not meet the requirement.  It may be enough considering actual usage of prop. (ski lodge) in light of marauding murderers.  If no one else (prop owners) similarly situated spent any time there over last decade, then her possession would be customary.  Additionally she paid someone to take care of it by cleaning it each month.  If adverse possession's purpose is to prevent waste, & reward those who care for prop, then Bunny in better position than absentee owner Sid doing god knows what in Cameroon.

The exclusivity requirement w/not be violated necessarily because Bunny rented it out to friends.  She was charging them to use it.  On the other hand, it was minimal amount.  But, this may be the typical usage of the property.  She also would meet the open & notorious requirement of AP for same reasons (ie - renting to friends), paying someone to clean up). on the other hand (not that we really care) Sid was in Cameroon, so how could this possibly give him notice of her possession.  Hostile? Of course - under a claim of right - a devise in will.

Assuming that either a) Sid doesn't prevail or b) Sid prevails in will contest but Bunny wins on A/P action, can Gullibers back out of K for sale? Assuming in jur. like Fla. recognizing action for breach of duty to disclose, they may be entitled to rescind.

Bunny had knowledge of gnat unpleasantness problem b.c 1) she experienced it herself & 2) her friends complained about it.  However it was only in the summer.  She also had heard stories re murderers.  However this may have been rumor & nothing had been heard by Bunny since 1983-84 re murders.

The only thing that was (maybe) material w/be gnats. Do gnats materially affect value? Depends on usage.  If you want to use as ski lodge in winter, as friends had, then gnats irrelevant.  Even if want to go in summer - so what. All places in wilderness have gnat problems in the summer. It's to be expected.  They were certainly readily observable & not known.  But not in the winter when friends were there. It could impose a duty on them to inspect the property if it considered the case a close one.  Even thought the K was signed before they saw property w/gnats & closing had not occurred.  Court could order specific performance.  This property is in wilderness, not like a PUD or condo. (out of time]

Question 4G: Comments: Common errors:  not knowing which rules only applied in some jurisdictions (duty to disclose, duty to mitigate); listing the elements of cau-ses of action without applying them (duty to disclose, fraud, builder's warranty);  not applying facts both ways (leaks might or might not have made unit unihabitable; fear of boyfriend miught not be reasonable because subjective; might be reasonable because she has to live under same roof).  Only major legal quibble:  strict and intermediate scrutiny are standards applied to state discrimination, not to private action.  Private discrimination is barred by sta-tutes.  Whether the sex discrimination, if any, was action-able depends on the statutory structure, not on a level of scrutiny.

Question 4G:  Model #1:  First check statutes, caselaw, housing codes.  Laura may have a cause of action against T for failure to disclose a materially affecting defect (Johnson).  She may also be able to sue T for violating the lease by attempting to sub-let it.  T may be able to block Johnson action on several grounds, would also be able to argue waiva of his rights is not allowed, that L violated his warranty of habitablity (Javins), and that L had a duty to mitigate damages.  Also, that L withheld granting approval of sub without a valid reason or, alternatively, that he was attempting to assign and not sub anyway.

DISCLOSE DEFECTS:  FLA LAW (Johnson) requires 4 elements: (1) that seller knew about defect.  Clearly, Tony knew about it, it was one rea-son why he sold the duplex.  (2) that defect was not visi-ble: this is more difficult, by patching the leaks, L may not have known about them.  "Water stains on ceiling" should have tipped her off however.  (3) that defect materially af-fected property: on the one hand, a small leak may not be enough to satisfy this.  In fact, if Tony just thought it was only leak he would have not known about it, thus block-ing element #1.  On the other hand, leaks that go unfixed often lead to new problems and major plumbing does "materi-ally affect"  (4).  Did T know that L didn't know? [MF: Question really is just whether L knew]  We really don't have enough facts.  Actually, L owned many properties  its reasonable that she would check out everything and knew the problem.  What was property sold for?  If value was $100,000 but plumbing cost $15,000 and it was sold for $85,000 it would appear that he thought she knew and that she did in fact know.  Also, these are two knowledgeable people.  T "built" the duplex himself and L is in the business.  Also, the T responsibility for all repairs may indicate that this was bargained for.  But this brings up another problem. . . 

WAIVER OF RIGHTS:  Generally, tenants cannot waive statutory rights.  We don't want big bad L's forcing T's to waive away everything the law has given them.  Unfair bargaining power, lack of adequate affordable housing, and homeless problem all work to a supply and demand situation where L's could force T's to waive away everything, thus creating slums.  On the the other hand, bargain power and knowledge may be fairly even here.  We are dealing with two knowledgeable people and court shouldn't block T's ability to trade on his skills to get him a cheaper rate.  If he was a custodian for L, L could rent him a cheaper apt so why not just do it the other way around.

ASSIGNMENT/SUB:  Lease says T may sub only with L's consent.  Courts interpret this strictly; if it doesn't mention assignment, the T can assign.   Ass=T giving all his interst to T2. whereas Sub= T giving something less than he has to T2.  T2  in this case is Alan. Question #1.  Since Tony asked Alan to "take over his lease", it seems as though this was an ass.,  allowable under the lease.  On the other hand, if this were an attempt at a sub, can T sublet it?

L'S CONSENT:  Generally speaking courts will interpret this as reasonable consent.  Is Alan solvent?  Yes "plenty of money" Is his credit as good as T's?  We don't know.   Will A fix plumbing?  Yes he could easily afford to fix plumbing.  So what is L's {reasonable} refusal based on?  Alan, (1) Re-minds her of boyfriend and (2) is uncomfortable w/ such a large person.  
Boyfriend: is #1 reasonable refusal?  on first glance it doesn't seem to be, but there is a question of L's enjoy-ment.  Having "trouble finding a tenant for her side of du-plex"  she has moved in.  Being that close to someone who really makes her uncomfortable may be a defense for L.  On the other hand, this is a duplex; although they are techni-cally under one roof, it is in fact poss. that they would never see each other.  Duplex has separate kit., bath & door so intimacy and privacy arguments have less weight.

LARGE SIZE:  Is #2  A reasonable ground?  Generally same type of Args from above would apply but with, perhaps, a little more force.  Is L worried for her life?  Was she raped by a large man who had a boxer type musc. body?  If so, L is going to have a much better argument.  On the other hand, it is a duplex (see above)  Additionally, if court be-lieves that a reason justification for private property is a personality theory and L could convince court that in such a small time (difficult) she has become personally attached dreaming about, thinking etc., court will look more favora-bly on her.  This is further confused when L rents to a wo-man B of same size as A.  w/ rape-type argument, it may not hurt her, but if only issue is size and not fear of large men, then would work against her.

WARRANTY OF HABITABILITY:  Did L violate T's right to a habitable place?  Will de-pend on waiver argument.  Assuming T cannot waive, L has a duty in common law and depending on juris. poss.  statutory duty to keep the place up to a min. quality of habitability.  Plaster falling from above, water leaking in etc. would go to it not being habitable.  Additionally, we would have to check the housing code. If the housing code or statutes have lang. about plumbing, habitability, etc., T may have a de-fense that lease to him is illegale b/c of housing code vio-lations, but court is not going to like this after all, T may have violated Johnson.  Spinning this around would be difficult.

EVICTION:  Was T evicted?  L sent him a threatening letter of eviction and refused to sub to Alan so maybe T thought he was evict-ed.  He was "furious"  and got up and left.  Perhaps he was furious at being evicted.  On the other hand L never offici-ally evicted T.  This is an important distinction for at least two reasons. (A) if T was evicted, L might have vio-lated T's right to cure the violations of the lease.  (B)if T was or was not evicted will be important w/ mitigating damgages.

(A)  Most jurisdictions and common law allows T to cure violations of a lease.  L is required to notify T, which L did, and allow T to cure problem, which L did not do if she did in fact evict him.  If L brings an action against T, T would be able to defend on these grounds.

(B)  Did L have a duty to mitigate damages?  Assuming that T is unable to raise any of the issues discussed as a defense (on any others I left out) the question becomes how much is T liable for?  In the past most courts and jurisdictions would answer that L is under no obligation to find a new T to finish out T's lease.  Thus, she could at least sue for breach of contract for each months rent. (FLA allows this)

On the other hand, the modern trend, especially  for residential properties, is for the L to make reasonable ef-forts to get a new tenant.  why?  Well, shortage of housing, efficent use of property, etc. all go to requiring this.  (Facts tell us that L Did not try to rent T's  remainder).  L's are also in a position to best handle these types of problems. L's are experienced in finding T's etc. On the other hand, this particular T had no problem that we know of selling the place and had someone available to rent it so if T was in the best postion to rent it out, perhaps count will not frown as much on L's lack of mitigating damages.

CONCLUSION:  L's remedies and T's defenses will to a lange  part depend on statutory requirments, case law specific so that jurisdiction and the housing code.  A grand style standards type court will also look into the policy and situational equities of the situation: need for housing, L's past, L and T's bargaining positions, possible discrimination on L's behalf (gender), etc.. will all have to be, or at least could be, taken into account by the count.  A standards judge will be able to ask what was leg purpose and what would they have intended in this situation.  On the other hand, a count looking for rules will decide one way or ano-ther.  Thsse have less likelhood of judicial activism and increase other people's ability to predict what the court will do in a similar case.  [MF: This last Para. is a little vague and disconnected to the problem, though the points about bargaining piower and checking legislative intent are important]

Question 4G:  Model #2:  Laura's remedies and rights against Tony for sale of home

The owner of a home has a duty to disclose to the buyer any defects that are significant but are unable to be detec-ted by the buyer-Johnson.  If T did not tell L about the problems with the plumbing, he could have violated his duty to disclose.  This might enable L to void the contract to sell the duplex.  But, the leaks might have been obvious and a normal person could have spotted them.  There were water stains on the ceiling and the floor and a normal buyer should have noticed them.  The problems in Johnson were only discovered after a big rain storm.   
Johnson also had an element of fraud which might be at play here.  Johnsons, when asked about the leak, denied that they had any.  The court found fraud, because there was a misrepresentation, they knew to be false, the party intended to misrepresent to the other party, and the party was in-jured due to the fraud.  If T tried to cover up the leaks and told L a statement he knew was false to mislead her then he committed fraud.  She could receive damages.

L might also have a claim against T, due a warranty of fitness as in Redarowicz.  There does not need to be privity between the owner and builder for this to apply, even though there is privity in this case.  The problem L might have is that it has been 10 years and many of these types of warran-ties expire after 10 years.  If not, she could sue for dama-ges.

L remedies against T from renting:  When L complained to T to pay for the repairs and he refused, she had a right to evict him.  Under most states law, if a tenant fails to live up to agreement after receiv-ing notice then the landlord is entitled to evict the ten-ant.  Some states require that this be in writing and state what the landlord is complaining of and why they are evict-ing.  If L followed the established procedure then she was entitled to evict T.

T Defenses:  T could say he did not have a duty to disclose because the stains were obvious to anyone who walked into the build-ing and anyone who saw them would have known where they came from.  Also L owned many rental properties and must have know or should have known what those stains meant.  Tony could also say he did not know about the leak because it was in the south, he lived in the north.  T could say he did not commit fraud, because he never did make any false statements about the leaks.  The only statements he made were truthful and that L did not do a good enough job inspecting the place.  
T could claim that the lease was illegal.  There is an implied warranty of habitability in leases.  Hilder  The re-quirements to tell if a place is livable are in the building code.  Substantial violations of the building codd would make the place unihabitable.  Here, with the plumbing leak-ing and the plaster falling it would seem that the viola-tions must be enough to make it uninhabitable.  Brown says a lease entered into in violation of the housing code, at the time it is made, is an illegal lease.  Therefore, T could say this lease is illegal because L knew of these condi-tions.  Tony could claim he did not know of the conditions because he did not live in that unit.

L could say the lease is not illegal because the condi-tions in the duplex are not uninhabitable.  The conditions are only minor violations at the house code and the duplex is still able to be lived in.  Also T knew of the problems before he entered into the lease because he used to own the place, and should not be allowed to use it as a defense.

T could defend his non-payment of rent as a way in which he wanted to protest the conditions in the duplex and he is entitled to withhold rent until conditions improve.  He could say the repairs were not his obligation because the bathroom that needed repair was hers and the effects of that leak were what was causing the violations in his room, and therefore caused the conditions that led him to withhold his rent.

T also could say he was only by the lease obligated for repairs, not for replacing the pipes.  The difference between replacing and repairing, is a big difference and the owners should be responsible for such expenses.  T also could say that the complaints were not in writing and were not specifically addressed to any problem.  Most state law requires that complaints be in certain and tell the tenant the condition that they are in violation of.

T could also argue that the conditions as they existed denied his quiet enjoyment of the property and the actions were enough to cause an constructive eviction.  Reste Real-ty.  For a constructive eviction, T must show that there was a substantial breach and he vacated the palce in a reasona-ble amount of time.  There might be a breach here at his quiet enjoyment, but it does not seem to be enough to be substantial.  He is still able to use and enjoy the duplex in a normal matter.  The conditions that exist do not seem to indicate a substantial breach.  Also T must face the problem that he knew about the conditions before he rented the place, and this might deny him the use of this remedy.  

T could also claim that the agreement between himself and Alan was not a sublease but an assignment and therefore not covered with the provision in the lease.  An assignment is a transfer at all the right from one to another.  The agreement between Alan and T would not be a sublease because it appears to cover the entire remaining part of the lease.  L could claim that although the lease says no sublease, what it really meant was no transfer to another party without permission.  When you look to see if there is a sublease or an assignment you should look at the intentions of the par-ties, not just the words.  Ernst.  Here the agreement was to give her the opportunity to see all people who might rent the place, before they do.  She had an important interest in who lived there, she could say, because it was such a close setting and she only wanted people next to her that she could live with.  To her it was very important with whom she made contracts with and this clause saved her the right to make contracts with those people she picked.  She picked Blanche, over Alan because she perferred a female.

Tony could counter this by saying L was the one who made the terms of the contract and if she wanted to include sublease then she should have expressed it in the contract Court often interpret contracts against the parties that wrote them.  L owned many other rental properties and should have known the difference between a sublease and assignment; anyone who rents property should be familar with the differ-ences.

But even in the likely provision that the provision was upheld, to deny a sublease there must be a commercially reasonable reason.  Kendall. The reason why L denied Alan the right to move in does not appear to be based on any commer-cially reasonable reason and appears due to the fact she has a problem with T, and does not want him to get out of his lease.  The reason she denied Alan was in part due to size, L stated, but then when she re-rented the place the person was the same size as Alan and therfore size did not play a factor as she said. 

T could also claim that L failed to mitigate the dama-ges of the breach.  Some states require landlords to mitigate damages before they can recover.  Some states like Florida give the landlord the choice to mitigate or collect da-mages.  Some courts require that the landlord make a reason-able attempt to mitigate if they are to recover damages.  Sommer.  One view is that landlords are in a better position to rent the place than tenant because that is their job and they know the market conditions better.  Some courts do not like the fact the landlords are able to let a place go un-lived in and the landlord is able to collect damages.  Some courts look at failure to mitigate more from a contract [MF: should be property] point of view and say that the landlords have a  right to what belongs to them and should be able to collect the rent.

If L prefers Blanche over Alan because she was a female and not a male, then depending on local law Alan could claim he was denied housing because of his sex.  It is against the law to deny someone housing based on sex, race, or national origin and claim you denied them housing for some other rea-son. Marable.  The reasons why L said she denied Alan the place was because of his size and he reminded her of her ex boy friend.  But then she rented the palce to a female, who was the same height and weight as Alan, therfore the size was not the factor why she did not rent to Alan, and his sex could be the reason.

Some states have different housing discrimination laws that apply to private homes and duplexes.  This is because of the close and intimate nature of those types of units and land-lords must be free to rent to people they are confortable with.  If there is such a law that controls over this situa-tion then Alan could bring suit.  Alan might also have a 28 usc 1981 action if he belongs to one of the suspect classes that section covers. 

Question 4K: Comments:  Generally, these showed fairly good grasp of the mate​rial.  The best answers did at least some extended fact-based analysis of the juiciest issues:  competence/undue in​fluence, the continuous and exclusive elements of adverse possession, and the scope of the easement.  Spotting the major issues with only superficial analysis earned a C+.

The major weaknesses were with the analysis of servi​tudes law.  The servitude at issue was an express easement.  It was not a real covenant or equitable servitude because it was a grant of a right of way, not a promise to do something or refrain from doing something.  It was almost certainly not an implied easement (as the first model answer points out) for the following reasons:

easement-by-implication: the easement was not created as part of the division of two parcels and was not pre-ex​isting.  Alessandra beat a new trail.

easement-by-necessity: no necessity; there is no evi​dence Alessandra's parcel was landlocked.  The fact that it might subsequently hurt her business is not the sort of ne​cessity that is relevant.

easement-by-prescription:  the use was permitted under the express easement, so was not hostile/adverse

easement by estoppel:   no evidence that Olivia or Bill did anything on which Alessandra could reasonably rely.  It is possible that Bill was aware that Alessandra was building a bed and breakfast, and that she intended to use the pond for itys guests and that he said nothing, but the facts re​ally don't say that.  At best, you could speculate as to the possibility.

Question 4K:  Model #1:  I.  Who owns the 2 Properties.

A. Grants in the Will:  The grant in the Will leaves H/acre a Fee Simple (FS) on Exec. Limitation to Al with a shifting Executory Interest in Olivia.  The grant to Olivia is okay since it must vest or fail within 21 years of Al's death.  Al is the measuring life b/c she is the one who can affect the vesting or fail​ing by having or not having children.

Olivia has a FS in N/acre, not necessarily b/c of the FS language, but simply by saying "to Olivia."  Any remain​ing interest goes to Al, which might include the right of an Easement (ES) by Implication to go across N/acre to reach Sleepy Pond.  However, the validity of the grants depends on meeting the Will formalities.

B.  Will: (1) Signature:  Some states require that Testator sign at the end of the Will.  Here, we have a 6 inch gap b/w bottom of text and signature, which might invalidate the entire Will.  Todd did sign before the witnesses, however, testamentary intent may be lacking by his words "Sure, whatever."  This could be saved by the fact that the lawyer previously drafted the Will at T's request, and he has Olivia as witness.  However, this might not be much help since would be an interested witness as far as the testamentary intent issue.

(2)  Witnesses: Most states require two, so 3 is good enough for anywhere.  They did watch T sign and signed in the pres​ence of T, and they signed all 3 together, that is, in each other's presence, which is a requirement is some jurisdictions.  The nurses are not interested witnesses, since they don't get anything from the Will, which matters in some states.  Finally, we could assume that they meet the minimum age (usually 18 or 21) and competency requirements since they are three professionals who had to go through at least four years of nursing school after high-school gradua​tion.  Nevertheless, we would have to confirm this.

(3) Will Valid:  If the will is valid, the grants described in section A above are good.

(4) Will Invalid:  Then, everything goes to Alessandra as Todd's sole heir; however, Olivia might have title by ad​verse possession under color of title.

(5) Adverse Possession by Olivia:

(a) Actual Possession:  O lived in N/acre from 1975 to 1976 continuously; and from 1976 to 1988 intermittently.  So she is not a "sleeping" owner.  She allowed friends to stay at N/acre and had a gardener beginning in 1982 to care for the property.  This requirement seems to be met.  She has physi​cal evidence of ownership (friends over & gardener) and wor​ried about the property being cared for.

(b) Open & Notorious [MF: with continuous mixed in]:  Anyone could tell the land was being used; she had friends over and had an employee look after it.  Under Howard v. Kunto, pos​session need not be continuous; and, given that she is a fa​mous fashion model, it should be understandable that she had to spend some months of the year in New York due to work re​sponsibilities.  As long as she came regularly to N/acre and this gave her reputation in the community as the owner, peo​ple "of ordinary prudence" should be on notice that O is claiming N/acre as her own.

(c) Exclusive:Although Al did use the path across N/acre, she did it under the presumption that O, the rightful owner, had signed an agreement with her.  Al might want to argue that her picking berries went beyond the agreement, and that she did it b/c the land (she thought) was hers, but that is a stretch.  Al's use was not "significant" to the extent that it was not an exercise of her unknown ownership.  All this time she thought it belonged to O, so she couldn't have done anything to substantiate a claim that she always knew N/acre was hers.

The elements seem to all be met; however; the "color of  title issue" ties back with Todd's Will.  Generally, the title holder has to have a good faith belief in the validity of the document; and c/o the extent that O is the one who called the lawyer to the hospital, coupled with the fact that T did not give clear acknowledgement of his testamentary intent, she might not be a good faith holder, after all.  Depending on the jurisdiction, the facts might ultimately be for or against Olivia; and if against, she would have title at all.

II.Easement(s): A. Express Es.:  Assuming O rightfully owns N/acre, the 1976 agreement b/w Al & O is valid.  It has all the formalities and defines the scope of the use.

(1) Party Intent was to allow the "owners" (not just Al) of H/acre and their guests to cross N/acre towards "Sleepy Pond" (SP).

(2) The objective evidence is that all deed formalities required in the jurisdiction were met.

(3) Reasonable use might be equating Al's "guests" in 1993 with her "friends" back in 1976.  Bill may argue that the use has increased; however, since the language expressly names "guests", Al could be saved on this one.

(4) Burden is not significantly greater if we assume that the use by the 1993 guests is roughly the same as that by her friends in 1976 up to 1989 and through 1993.  To the extent that we have a slight increase in use, Al may argue it's evolutionary.  However, if most of the 12-18 daily guests in 1993 use the pond daily vs. 2 or 3 friends once a week before opening the bed-and-breakfast, Bill may argue it's revolutionary.

Al's problem is that she didn't record.  so she might have to resort to alternative solutions.

B.ES by Implication:  Remember that, under the Will, T left "the rest" of his property to Al.  This would include an ES by Implication.  Although N/acre & H/acre were two adjoining but separate properties, Al may allege that begin held by a common owner, they practically functioned as one.  This is supported by the fact that they are adjoining properties. We would need to confirm whether there was a pre-existing pathway; the facts seem to indicate this but they are not clear.  Accord​ingly, a court may find that the parties intended to use the pathway, which might be defeated by the fact that Al went on for one year (1975-76) without swimming.  So this is proba​bly not the best alternative.

C.ES by Necessity:  Might not help Al much b/c the use of Sleepy Pond is not quite a necessity (vs. Roads, electric​ity, etc....)

D.ES by Estoppel:  Bill knew of the use and allowed it for four years.  Failure to stop use might have caused detrimental reliance by Al to set up the bed-and-breakfast with the pond use as an incentive for guests.  However, Bill may argue he was just giving her a license before, since the use was not much, and is now limiting it. (Remember, since Al didn't record ES w/o she may not assert this unless this is a  notice jurisdiction and she can prove Bill knew or had 

inquiry notice.)

Other issues (No time)  Condition that Al have no children; is ambiguous, however, coupled w/Todd's known genetical concern, might not affect since Al adopted.

Question 4K:  Model #2: The first inquiry in determining ownership is the va​lidity of T's Will, which has some problems.  There were 3 witnesses, which is valid anywhere, and we can assume wit​nesses competent for age and mentally since they're nurses.  T signed will in present of the witnesses - OK and assume T signed before witnesses - OK and witnesses signed in pres​ence of T, but on back of page - (don't know where witness signatures must appear).

Problems could include undue influence or fraud by O.  T dictated the Will, but in O's presence and T was old and O his hot young squeeze.  Also, O phoned the lawyer - possibly her friend (collusion?)  Big problem b/c O read the Will to T.  -possibility of fraud (she didn't read what was on page) -T's competence - why couldn't he read it himself? (weak, poor eyesight)-also T died within hours.  Another problem - T saying "sure, whatever" does this indicate testamentary intent?  Doesn't seem like - T not taking it seriously, but T could just be tired and pissed off b/c he's dying.

Some states T must say "this is my will," or "this is my signature" (but even if signed in presence of witnesses?-I doubt).  Another problem is 6" gap between text & signa​ture.  T must sign at end - purpose is to prevent any later additions & this might allow it.

Also problem with condition on grant to A for A not to have children.  Most likely void as against public policy (like restraint on marriage, etc.) but adopted kids = real kids, so if condition is OK she could be hosed in a strict jurisdiction.  However, real point of condition was to pre​vent bad gene, and adoption is a big benefit to society so restriction in grant void.

If Will was invalid, then A took both properties under intestate succession (only heir) if so, then O may have ac​quired N-acre via Adverse Possession.  AP elements:

1. Actual - O used 1975-76, but only used intermit​tently after '76- was this use as normal owner? (were many homes in area 2nd residence, etc.) - O hired gardener 1982 - he probably "cultivated" some and she let her friends use (sufficient for trespass).

2.  Open & Notorious - she did reside there some, her friends stayed there, and upkeep by gardener lets people know someone "owns" it.  Also, O's reputation as owner-her friends used it, even A thought O was owner (easement).

3.  Exclusive - depends on how substantial A's use was- A only used pond and picked some berries (A & A's guests) - also A thought this was under easement (though N/A for Adv. poss.)

4.  Continuous - depends on time lapses, etc. by O prior to '82 (under her lack of use not = normal owner), also what is statutory time period?  O was probably OK for 7 years from 82-89 when she hired gardener.  Also depends on if A's use of pond and berries was ever sufficient to = in​terruption.Also- if needed, could tack adv. poss of O & B.

5.  Adverse - no facts that O had permission from A, A thought O owned it & Color of title (Will) makes this easier to show

6.  Claim of Right (some juris)  O definitely had-she sold to B

If Will valid, O has N-Acre, if Will invalid, O may have had N-Acre via adv. pss. so B now owns it via sale from O or possibly via B tacking on his A.P. time.  If B owns, then his rights against A's use of path include following:

Easement not recorded, so B could be BFP with regard to easement & have taken N-Acre not subject to it.

The obvious problem with easement is the increased bur​den on the servient tenement - At time of easement there was only 1 house w/1 occupant on dominate parcel.  Even though express language says owners of H.Acre & their guests  Now H-Acre is a bed & breakfast with 12-18 guests per day.  This is revolutionary, not evolutionary change.  Burden is also (up) greater than anticipated by parties, so B can probably get injunction (see also nuisance, below)  or damages for overuse.

Also, if Will was valid and A violated condition, O owns H-acre & users of easement not owner's guests.  and If Will was invalid & A owned both parcels (after easement but before Adv. Poss) - then terminated.

B may also be able to sue over easement via nuisance.  [MF: probably better to sue for for trespass or overuse of easement, rather than nuisance, since claim is not using one parcel to harm another, but interfering by activities on Bill's land].  There is increased noise & litter on (possibly) B's property, berries are being picked (maybe all of them), the litter, & noise may harm or scare off wildlife, so B may be able to get an injunction in a strict liability jurisdiction (interferes w his normal use and en​joyment of the land).

Under the Rest. 1 nuisance test, B might lose b/c of social value of furthering adoption (which the inn funds) & recreation needs of families, etc. Under Rest II test, B may get damages, even if utility outweighs harm.  Depends on significance of damages to B if A can afford to pay.

B may be able to sue O to buy easement rights from A b/c O failed to disclose easement (no evidence of fraud by O), but unlikely (see 3).  [MF: cause of action for duty to disclose really is for physical defects, rather than title.  This would more likely be a breach of warranties of title].  The easement was:

1. Known to buyer

2. materially affects value-if you have pond and only you can use it, it's more valuable than if you must let others use it.

3. not readily observable to buyer - path

4. not known to buyer - not recorded

#3  could also hurt B as BFP if it constitutes inquiry notice.  Depends on how visible path was, but facts say path through the woods & to the pond.  There is also Prescrip​tive Easement element to path, but its current use ( inn guests) is for less than 1 year.

Question 4M:  Comments:  What I Was Looking For:  As always on an issue-spotter, I rewarded quantity of issues spotted, the ability to see which issues were most likely to be contested, making well-structured arguments for both parties, and helpful use of policy arguments.  I wanted you to discuss issues in three major areas:  Wills, Adverse Possession, and Landlord/Tenant.  

The wills issues with the most to talk about were undue influence and the presence requirements.  You also might have usefully discussed the number of witnesses and which of the surviving heirs would take what under intestacy if the will were invalid.  A number of the best answers suggested that the existence of the videotape might serve in place of any missing formalities.  Capacity was not an issue strongly raised by the facts, but I gave some credit if you discussed it. 

If the will was invalid, then Jessica had been holding the property with color of title for 11 years, which raises the possibility of adverse possession.  The most interesting issues under adverse possession probably were continuity and exclusivity.  Continuous is at issue both because you don’t know the  length of the statute of limitations and because the property was unrented for 10 months in the middle.  In addition you might discuss whether the twins’ somewhat sporadic use as tenants might be insufficient to preserve possession to the landlord.  Exclusivity is at issue because the twins were at least partial owners if the will was invalid.  Whether use by the actual owners under a lease from the adverse possessor breaks continuity is an interesting policy question.  You also might have discussed whether use as a typical landlord should meet the “actual” requirement.

The landlord/tenant issues I looked for included the right to self-help and the possibility that the twins were constructively evicted.  Both of these issues required you to discuss the validity of the wear and tear provision of the lease and whether the twins acted appropriately in response to their claim of breach. 

Common Errors:  The most common error seemed to be a misunderstanding of the instruction at the end “Assuming Sean’s will can be challenged at this late date, discuss who has the right to possess the Coliseum.”  As you really should be aware, the right to possess the property is not the same as owning it.  Tenants have a right to possess without having title.  In order to determine possession, you needed both to determine who has title (validity of will; validity of adverse possession claim) and to resolve the landlord-tenant disputes.  Even if Jessica owned the property, the twins would have a right to possess it under their lease if they had not been constructively evicted and if Jessica was improperly using self-help to evict them.  Moreover, you have an entire page of facts that are really about nothing but landlord-tenant concerns.  Some of you announced proudly you weren’t going to discuss them because they didn’t relate to ownership.  This strikes me as bad strategy.  I might throw in a fact or two as a red herring and expect you to say, “that looks like issue X, but it really isn’t because….”  I’m not going to put an entire page of facts on an exam to test your willpower and see if you can resist talking about them.

A second common problem was spending too much time on trivial wills issues.  You have no facts at all to support a claim for fraud or duress, or to suggest that Sean was not of age, failed to sign the will, or failed to sign at the end of the document.  Moreover, as a few of you pointed out, the will was already admitted to probate, which means that all the formalities that can be observed from the face of the document (signature; number of witnesses; signature at end) must have been OK.  You don’t really have any evidence to support a competency challenge either.  As a matter of strategy, spend your time on issues the parties will fight about, and particularly issues that have a lot of facts surrounding them.  Going through every possible wills formality is not so much wrong as an inefficient use of time that is unlikely to bag you many points.

Finally, several of you discussed whether the twins might have adversely possessed the property during the time they leased it.  Because they had Jessica’s permission to be there under the lease, they would lose under the “adverse/hostile” element.  I think you discussed this issue because you saw facts like the sporadic use of the property that suggested adverse possession, but missed that Jessica herself might be the adverse possessor.  I gave some points for useful discussions of the other elements in the context of considering adverse possession by the twins.

Model Answers:  Nobody did an outstanding job on all three clusters of issues.  The two models I chose both have nice discussions of the wills issues and some good points elsewhere.  The first answer, which saw more points than anyone else, contains a nice discussion of whether the case fits the policies behind adverse possession.  The second answer has a particularly nice discussion of undue influence, sees the major problems re adverse possession, and shows fairly well what to do if you are runnung out of time.

Question 4M:  Model #1: Contestation of the will must begin with the formalities of the will itself.  We must then look at the ability to devise the property in the moment intended and our analysis of the question will conclude with examination of issues of habitability, constructive eviction, self-help, and finally a brief examination of possible adverse possession claims by J.

Under the law the will must be signed by the testator and the presence of witnesses. The witnesses here are the lawyer who drafted it who clearly witnessed the testator sign, however the only other potential witness is the legal assistant,.  She did not “witness” the signature. She did however witness an acknowledgement.  The question will turn upon whether the local jurisdiction is one that allows witness of ack. only.  If they do, then we are still not out of the woods.  This is only two witnesses.  Most states now require three witnesses.  If this is a state in which this is true the will is insufficiently witnessed and invalid.  Conversely 2 witness jurisd. would likely uphold (with the aforementioned caveat). Note if the lawyer is deemed to be an interested party he may also fail as a witness, however this is unlikely since he took nothing in the will.

The competence of the testator should not be a real issue.  Testator is elderly therefore hers probably competent as to age.  The facts also seem to indicate he is of sound mind.  He seems to know the natural extent of his property, his bounty & and seems to know the disp. he is making of his property.  No delusions seem to be present.

Undue influence is slightly tougher.  Jessica had both a personal and professional relationship.  The prof. came first and she was involved in testator’s affairs.  The personal relationship ensued.  A personal affection is not an automatic disqualification as undue influence.  The concern here would be the combination of the personal relationship with the professional capacity.  However, it seems that J. has taken adequate measures to distance herself from the will’s preparation.  She enlisted B’s help and appears to have tried to dissuade Sean from including her as a beneficiary.  The repeated insistence by S. would seem to indicate a strong will not easily swayed in these matters.  Even after J gave B the papers it would appear that she had not included herself in the will.  Only after S urged B was J back in.  In addition, the fact that J took a proportionately small piece of the estate would lean more towards validation of the will on that issue.  (It is unclear if the balance was valued at more than J’s share or just consisted of more items.)  If the will is valid (a big if under witnesses) we must know if there are any limitations by statutes placed on what S may devise, S has no children and not wife.  It is therefore doubtful that he would be prohibited from any division of property he chose.

If the will is valid, J take the Coliseum in 1987.  In 1993 she executes a commercial lease with P & P and the clause purporting to relieve J of liability for repairs.  Even commercial leases contain an implied covenant of quiet enjoyment (Reste Realty v. Cooper).  As in that case the commercial tenant has been deprived of this covenant and as a result cannot conduct business.  Because the lack of A/C substantially interferes with the quiet enjoyment P & P may be able to claim partial or actual constructive eviction.  If P & P claim actual const. evic. they may need to prove that the interference is permanent.  In this case, it is not.  However dependant upon the jurisd. if the problem is sufficiently serious -- as here -- they may still be entitled to claim const. evict.  In addition for P & P to claim this they may have to vacate the Coliseum in a reasonable time.  A reasonable time is very hard to define however two months may be okay since they can say that they were waiting for J to fix the A/C.  

The clause in the lease is asserted by J to be a release or waiver.  While the language can be argued as not really establishing that, J will claim that P & P’s use caused the A/C failure and as such they are responsible.  In addition the language argument could be made that the A/C failure was normal wear and tear and therefore P & P are liable.  If the language is upheld P & P may have withheld rent in violation of the lease.  Conversely if J is responsible for the repair P & P may have improperly notified J of the problem.  The facts aren’t clear but it looks like this was an oral notification.  Many jurisd. have a requirement for written notif.  If so this notification may not suffice.  

In addition the property may carry with it an implied warranty of habitability.  In order to bring an action for this P & P must show a substantial violation of the lease.  Usually housing codes and local rules will establish what is substantial.  However, lack of A/C which renders premises unusable is probably sufficient.  P & P again have a duty to notify J and she must repair in a reasonable time.  Her, if notice is sufficient, here blatant refusal my be sufficient to show she wasn’t going to fix it in a reasonable time.  There doesn’t seem to be any problem with a duty to disclose here, but the issue still remains as to the waiver.  In may jurisdictions covenants of quiet enjoyment may under some statutes be waived.  Conversely a warranty of habitability on commercial leases may not exist.  Because of the equities of these parties, to the extent that P & P and J are all business persons.  (P & P may be lawyers -- “EZ Pass Bar Exams”), there is an assumption that the bargaining powers are more equal.  Because this is a commercial transaction some jurisdictions will allow a waiver of both of these.

Upon non-payment of rent J. exercised a right to self-help.  By changing the locks and disabling the security J took the law into her own hands and, while this may be more efficient it is not consistent with most law today.  Mot jurisdictions prevent a landlord from removing or breaching tenant’s possession or barring entry unless the tenant has already surrendered or abandoned the premises.  In addition the common law policy of “peaceable” is no longer acceptable since many times what is substantially peaceable become not quickly.  J would have been more correct legally to file for an eviction.  The waiver (2nd) in the lease may cover J, however the trend is to require prior judicial remedy.  This situation however is between commercial entities and may be more likely to allow an opt-out of the rule.

Inasmuch as J received the property in 1987 and this dispute arose in 1998 J may be able to claim adverse possession.  It will be extremely weak however it may be possible he follows.  Dependant upon the S/ limitations she has held the title for 11 years.  Of the elements necessary for adverse possession the actual possession of the premises is most subject to challenge.  J had title to the property and as such most jurisdictions recognize this as a factor.  The problem is obviously that J has not maintained actual (physical) possession of the property.  However she has maintained a physical occupation consistent with properties of similar nature.  As in Howard  v. Kunto, less than continuous possession that was consistent with the use of the property was sufficient.  A long-shot, but combined with the color of title may effect an actual, continuous possession.  As to exclusivity, while P & P were on the property the were invitees of J and as such were no different than guests of the Kuntos or Howards.

J maintained complete control over the premises and merely invited P & P, subject to eviction on the property.  The arguments for allowing A.P. by J are pretty thin however the policy reasons behind the A.P. laws would seem to weigh heavily for J, after all she had color of title.  She has actually invested her time and labor into leasing and fixing up and in fact has made a profit.  If the police intent of A.P. is to reward labor (Locke’s theory) this seems pretty consistent.  If you combine that with the fact that the strict adherence to the formalities of the statute of wills would probably subvert S’s intent then a lot of weight seems to call for the decision. 

Question 4M:  Model #2: Wills Formalities:  Signature:  All wills require a signature, here Sean signed the will in the presence of Brian and affirmed to the legal assistant that it was his will.  He signed prior to the witnesses.  We know he had testamentary intent b/c he told the legal assistant that it was “his will.”

Witnesses:  Assuming this case takes place in Florida, where a will needs to be witnessed by two people, this will is okay.  So it depends if the state where executed permits two witnesses, or requires three.  Another question is whether the legal assistant is recognized as a witness.  Assuming that Brian is an attorney above the age of 18 or 21 depending on the state, he is an acceptable witness.  Now we must assume that the legal assistant is also above 18 or 21 (again depending on state) then he/she too is also an acceptable witness. 

Witnesses usually must watch testator sign.  Here the testator acknowledged to legal assistant that it was his will.  In Florida, this would be okay.  Witness must sign in presence of testator.  Here it is unsure from facts, but will assume that legal assistant signed in presence of Sean.  In Florida, the witnesses must be together when the testator signs or acknowledges “and” when they sign.  Here witnesses were not together when Brian signed, however in some states witnesses can sign separately.  Again, depends if this case takes place in Florida.  If it does take place in Florida here is the defect.  However, there is a video recording in which Sean reads, signs, and acknowledges that it is his will.

Competency or Capacity of Testator:  Sean is a wealthy man.  W do not have any facts of whether he is smart or not.  However, his niece, and nephews are all in the legal field.  (A stretch but some intelligence signs).  Sean is wealthy, usually wealthy have some senses, therefore we can assume that he is of sound mind and intelligent.  He has somewhat of a character, deducted that he is not married, and does not get along with his brother, and he rarely knew his nephew/niece.  Therefore, assuming he is strong willed, it is not likely that he is influenced easily.  He stated that he wanted to leave a great deal of his money to charity and he did; he left the bulk to charity.  He knows of the existence of his nephews/niece however he barely knows them.  Therefore he has chosen not to leave them anything.  What we do not know from facts is whether he put in his will that they were not to get anything.  If he did, it is obvious that he did not forget them.  However, we don’t know from facts.

Undue Influence:  Undue influence is going to be a big topic for the twins.  The facts show that Sean came to the law firm where Jessica is a partner with the intent of leaving “a great deal of money to charity.”  His will did just that.  The bulk of Sean’s estate went to charity.  However in the course of the preparation of the will Sean and Jessica fell in love.  Sean insisted against Jessica’s repeated protest to leave her something of his estate.  She withdrew as the attorney and let Brian prepare the will.  The sticky point here is that Brian is a junior associate at the firm where Jessica is partner.  This is what the twins will bring up.

Unlike Estate of Webb where the young boyfriend was broke, in this case we can assume that a partner in a law firm is pretty well-off and not in need of charity.  Although here we are talking about a civic auditorium (something anyone could use).

Again, we know that Sean would not change his mind.  Therefore, it was his choice (free) uncoerced, uninfluenced.  Jessica’s actions are of good faith when she tries to convince Sean to get closer to his nephews and apparently his strong-willed self refuses.  As in Estate of Webb, the court’s held that b/c Ms. Webb was such a strong-willed woman, it showed no undue influence.

There is a factual difference b/t these cases and that is that here there exists a confidential relationship (attorney-client) and usually undue influence is presumed.  In this case Jessica both participated in preparation of will and is a beneficiary.  However, when you weigh what she received from the estate she is most likely not a substantial beneficiary.  Another defense is that she backed out prior to being included in the will as a beneficiary.

By the way, only spouse and children are assumed heirs unless it is specifically that they are left out on purpose.  Here it is the long-lost, barely known nephews/niece.

Adverse Possession:  Even if it was decided that the will is invalid, there exists a possible claim of adverse possession.  Jessica has had continuously for approximately 11 years the control of the Coliseum.  Uninterrupted/uncontested. Phil and Paul have been renting from Jessica for Almost 5 years without ever raising a claim of ownership rights.  Owned 11 years: statute of limitations? (what state are we in; Florida 7 years).  Jessica’s ownership has been open and notorious, especially to claimants here.  The building has always been there, and mostly rented 10 of her 11 year ownership.  It has been actual.  She is using in the way average owner would use: “rents it out” for assembly gatherings.  There is a parking lot, a big building, seats, often rented to theater company shows and other functions and she has carried out all of the duties required from her as lessor/owner.

However, there exists an issue re Exclusive and that is if the will was invalid and later found that P & P are entitled to ownership of Coliseum they have been using it for 5 years.  Under exclusive once the owner uses the property possessor starts counting again.  Questions would be: but owners were not aware that it was their land, Jessica had owned it under color of title, etc.  

Landlord/Tenant: (I am running out of time): 

Reste Realty

--A/C not normal wear and tear


--Constructive Eviction

Berg v. Wiley (self-help)


--Twins can recover any loss of business if in season of Bar Exam Preparation.

Question 4R:  Comments:  Eminent Domain Issue:  What I Was Looking For

Clear & Significant Benefit:  This test requires you to enumerate the benefits of the program, then to discuss whether they are clear (as opposed to speculative) and significant (as opposed to marginal).  

Benefits?:  Program will facilitate production of an enzyme that cures some skin cancers.  Helpful to be specific about what the benefits are:  e.g., benefits patients by extending lives and improving quality of life (less itching/pain/disfigurement), benefiting patient’s families/friends by allowing more time with patients, maybe benefiting society by getting more productive time from patients.  

Clear?:  Problem says effectiveness of enzyme “proven”, so usefulness of treatment is not  speculative.  Perhaps need a condition guaranteeing T uses for ivy growing (like no resale condition in Midkiff), otherwise possible that no enzyme would be produced so benefits speculative.

Significant?:  Although courts probably comfortable with improving health as significant benefit, helpful to note that how significant depends on lots of facts outside problem.  You might have mentioned, e.g., how common the cancers are that ivy cures (more people saved = more significant); whether other effective treatments exist for same cancers (if so, maybe little change in people’s lives, so marginal); whether ivy grows well lots of places (if so, maybe sufficient quantities to get all benefits without Em.Dom.); how much enzyme produced by each ivy plant compared to amount needed for treatment (if 10 acres of ivy needed to treat one person, maybe program won’t help many people).  Might also compare to Poletown:  benefit was economic health of a whole city; probably would need to treat a fair number of people to be as significant.

Public is Primary Beneficiary:  This test requires you to compare benefit to private player (T’s profits) with the public benefits enumerated under the first Poletown test.   You should note that the same factors that determine the significance of the benefit also affect this analysis; the more significant the benefit, the more likely it is to be primary.  Helpful to engage in some attempt to balance:  e.g., “Because we value health and human life so highly, if even a few people are cured by the ivy, we should consider this the “primary” benefit  as compared to the merely monetary gains of T.”  Could also compare to Poletown.  E.g., “Poletown found gain to economy of Detroit ‘primary’ v. GM profits.  Here, health gains arguably more important than economic (should value lives above $) and T getting less benefit than GM because paying market value, not receiving huge subsidy.  Thus, even stronger case here for public as primary.”

Eminent Domain Issue:  Common Problems

Staying Within the Scope of the Question:  Many students improperly made arguments from Midkiff, Seattle, and the Poletown dissent.  I told you that the parties had challenged the program under the Public Use clause of the state constitution and that the state interpreted this clause like Poletown.  Thus, the only tests that you should have applied were those from the Poletown majority. Midkiff interprets the federal constitution and would not govern this problem.  Tests from In re Seattle are different from those in Poletown and would not govern.  Although Poletown dissent tests are in some sense “standards from Poletown,” in this context, they were non-responsive.
  The ordinary legal meaning of “X court  applies the rule from Y case” is the rule stated in the majority opinion.  The majority is the only binding part of a case; if you “apply” the case, you apply the majority’s rule.  

Staying Within Focus of Tests:  Many students made points that were not tied directly (or at all) to the terms of the legal tests.  For example, almost nobody attempted any kind of balancing when applying the primary beneficiary test.  On the other hand, many students talked about benefits to T under “clear and significant,” a test I view as focused entirely on the public’s benefit.

One-Sided or Conclusory Discussion:  Many students made arguments only in favor of the state or made arguments that simply restated the language of the test without support (“Obviously the benefit here is significant.”)  Defend your positions with specific facts and arguments.  Look hard for the best arguments for each party to a dispute. 

Recording Acts: What I Was Looking For:

1.  BFP Issues:  C paid roughly market value (=valuable consideration) and no evidence of actual notice, so most of discussion should be on:


a.  record notice:  A(B deed recorded under Ruiz & Bycepps.  Outside chain of title as prior deed says Astoria, not Ruiz.  If C’s deed also says Ruiz, she has enough info to find A(B (check grantor index under Ruiz), so will have record notice.  Even if C’s deed says Astoria, B will argue that famous wedding should put all on notice of name change. Room for a discussion on this question:  e.g., C will argue that unfair for people to lose property because they don’t read People magazine. 


b.  inquiry notice:  B will say she saw him jogging, which provides inquiry notice of his claim.  Room to argue about whether it ought to be enough.  E.g., C will say people commonly trespass when running or get permission; doesn’t suggest ownership, plus not doing anything connected to land (like manure-dumping or signs in examples in class).  B will argue, easy enough to ask; shouldn’t assume trespass.  If jogging is inquiry notice, her inquiry is insufficient; need to ask other party because owner has incentive to lie.

2.  Race Issues: In a race-notice jurisdiction, recording only counts for purposes of “race” if all documents in chain of title properly connected.  (Zimmer rule). Here, A(B deed arguably is wild, because of the name change.  If court holds that C is not under duty to search under Ruiz, it will probably also find that B’s recording doesn’t count.  Thus, if A(C deed says Astoria, C would win race, because her chain of title would be complete and B’s would not.  Even in a race jurisdiction, a court might not count a wild deed as winning the race because it defeats some of the purposes of the recording act. You might raise this argument for C (although we didn’t really discuss this in class with reference to race statutes).
Recording Acts: Common Problems

1.  Three Types of Jurisdictions:  Problem doesn’t say which type of recording act governs, so you should discuss all three.  Some people missed available points by assuming it was a notice jurisdiction. 

2.  First Grantee as “BFP”:  Many students improperly asked whether B was a BFP.  We don’t ask whether first grantee is a BFP; that is a status that you can only have if you are a later purchaser.  Thus, in a fight with a subsequent purchaser like C, whether B paid value is irrelevant.  As first in time, he wins unless C meets the requirements of the relevant recording act.

3.  Whose Recording Counts?  Several students suggested that either B or C or both had not “recorded” because A’s agent filed their deeds at the courthouse. The legal system doesn’t care who records a deed; the issue is simply whether a record of the transaction is in the public records.  Often in real life a messenger service will deliver deeds to the courthouse.  Thus, “B records” is shorthand for “the deed granting the property to B was recorded (by someone) at the courthouse.”  Here, both deeds were recorded, even though the seller’s agent filed them.

4.  Duty of Inquiry:  Many students suggested that C satisfied her duty of inquiry through her conversation with A.  If C had a duty to inquire, the inquiry must be of someone other than the seller who has incentive to lie.

5.  One-Sided or Conclusory Presentation:  As with the eminent domain issues, many students picked a winner on the recording act issues and just laid out arguments supporting their chosen one.  Interestingly, the class split between those who were sure C won and those who were sure B won.  Also like the eminent domain issue, many students presented unsupported conclusions: “Although C had inquiry notice of B’s claim, she satisfied her duty.”  Find places to have longer discussions.  Support your conclusions.

Adverse Possession Issue:  What I Was Looking For

1.  Statute of Limitations:  Length of statute key to outcome.  If greater than 13 yrs (e.g., Penn 21) C can’t adversely possess.  If statute less than 7 years, B’s re-entry irrelevant; C would have completed adverse possession before that.  If statute = 7 years (FL), B’s re-entry irrelevant if more than seven years from date of A’s first entry (unclear from problem).  Otherwise, adv. poss. only possible if B’s re-entry doesn’t toll statute.

2.  Ordinary Usage (Actual/Continuous): Both Linck and Howard ask about ordinary use for this type of land.  Room for a long discussion here:  what is ordinary use of 5-acre wooded lot?  Nature preserve?  House?  May depend on where lot is (wilderness?  near suburbs?)  Linck allowed adverse possession with color of title on very spotty possession in terms of both actual & continuous.  This is even less.  Should Linck be pushed this far?  Lots to say here.

3.  Exclusivity: Should jogging toll statute of limitations?  He is using it the same way he always did but use is consistent with trespass and isn’t connected to the land (not building, residing, growing, etc.)  Room for discussion as to whether jogging for two weeks in 13 years is sufficient.

4.  Less Important Issues:  I thought the other elements deserved less time than those noted above.  My sense of the relevant analysis follows:

a.  Other tests for actual:  If state requires cultivation, enclosure, improvements (NY, FL), she didn’t.


b.  open & notorious:  Normally just means visible on surface of property.  Her uses were visible.  If she had done them everyday, three times a day, this element would be met.  That suggests that gaps between use should be dealt with under continuous, not open & notorious.


c.  adverse/hostile:  Normally means without owner’s permission.  No permission here.  To the extent it means use as though you are the owner (Linck), should be met.  She believes she owns it.


d.  state of mind:  All jurisdictions treat good faith belief in color of title as sufficient.  States requiring “bad” state of mind do so only for cases without color of title.


e.  color of title:  Her deed is color of title here.  Might note the consequences:  lower threshold for actual, constructive adverse possession, etc.

Adverse Possession Issue:  Common Problems

1.  Staying Within Scope of Element Under Discussion:  Each element has particular types of facts that it examines.  Helpful to begin discussion with definition of element or other indication of its focus and then to make sure you stay within that focus.  Several students, under the heading of one element, talked about facts related to another element, or simply listed facts without a clear indication of their legal relevance.   

2.  Equal Time:  Several students discussed each element for approximately the same amount of time.  This is never a good idea.  It is impossible to write a question in which all the elements are seriously contested; some of them will always be harder to resolve than the others.  Try to find (and spend more time on) more contested issues.

3.  Conclusory Statements:  Many students rushed through the elements and just announced the results (like sports tickers).  How many points do you really think you’ll get on an open book test for “Continuous: Yes.”?  If you’re really pressed for time, do fewer elements and at least put down a rule or some facts for each.

Question 4R: Model #1 (Eminent Domain Issue Only):  This student probably did the best job raising pro and con arguments for each prong of the test, but needed to stick more closely to the language of the tests.  Poletown majority used 2 criteria for determining whether eminent domain is valid.
 First, is there a clear and significant public benefit? Yes:
 Cancer is obviously a rampant problem for the public, little has been found to treat it.  Since the enzyme can be found at Waldenacre, it should be extracted, since little else is found to help cancer patients. However, not everyone suffers from cancer, so not everyone would benefit from this enzyme.  Furthermore, only some skin cancers are treated with this enzyme, so the population of beneficiaries is reduced even more.  On the other hand, lending more support to the use of eminent domain, society as a whole benefits from saving lives, for these lives may be of future inventors, scientists, lawyers, etc.

Second test primary beneficiary = public? Yes: Poletown majority found MI to be the primary beneficiary in that new jobs were to be created.  The economy surrounding the plant would thus flourish.
  Here, too, enzyme is to treat any individual with that type of skin cancer.  Since anyone is susceptible to cancer, primary beneficiary is the public. However, since the enzyme is very profitable, it means it costs a lot.  Therefore only those that can afford it will benefit. Furthermore, Tao will benefit significantly in profits. This private benefit, although not taken to defeat use of eminent domain in Poletown, may, if substantial enough, be seen to be too great and thus disallow eminent domain. This argument maybe strong here if it can be shown that there is other land that contains this enzyme, and thus eminent domain is not necessary.  But, then again, people may not just volunteer to give up their land, so eminent domain is needed.

Question 4R: Model #2 (Eminent Domain Issue Only):  This student makes a number of useful points about the problem that were not raised by Student #1.  Like Student #1, #2 could stick more closely to the language of the relevant tests.  #2 also needs to explore possible counter-arguments at more length:  Poletown majority opinion std: (a) Clear & Significant Public use
 - the land is needed to extract an enzyme from a plant that grows only there.  This enzyme is effective for treating cancers. Since cancer is a widespread & especially dangerous disease, the State has a pressing concern to find remedies for it.  Since the enzyme proved effective in accomplishing this goal, it seems the state has made its case in establishing this factor. The treatment of cancer is a significant public concern, and since the ivy enzyme has been shown to be effective, it is clearly of value to the state.
  However, more information is needed about statistical effectiveness of the enzyme.

(b) Public Primary Beneficiary - The state is using its Eminent domain  power to buy the land only to resell it to Tao Chemical Co.  This company is primarily interested in profit.  Thus one may argue the State is using its power to help one company achieve more profit, which is clearly not what Eminent Domain was intended for. However, to evaluate the state’s actions, one needs to examine the underlying reasons for the state’s use of Eminent domain.  Just as in Poletown, the State was using its power to condemn land & turn it over to private hands.  The state’s rationale was that it would subsequently lead to a great benefit to society, i.e. more jobs. In this case, the use the state is interested in is the treatment for cancer.  The State is interested in this for its citizens.  The Co. is not developing this for its own use, but rather for the multitudes of patients who may benefit from this treatment.
  Without the private co. investment, this treatment may never be developed.  Therefore, the State has demonstrated that its use of Eminent Domain will serve a public purpose & the public will be primarily benefited.
  That one co. will make profit in the process is a necessary condition to accomplish this public use.
 

Question 4R: Model #3 (Recording Act Issue Only): This student makes good points for each side on the issues of inquiry notice and record notice. However, the student does not separately address the three types of recording acts and does not clarify how inquiry and record notice affect the question of who gets title.  In terms of the recording acts issue, we know that C checked out the property beforehand and saw B running on it.  It is her responsibility b/c of her fear of inquiry notice that she adequately check to make sure that no-one is occupying the land.
  C will argue that she asked A who B was and what he was doing on the property.  The question is, will a court consider her search to be adequate.  Certainly, a responsible person who hears “That’s my trainer,” will expect that the trainer does not own the land, and the activity that he was engaging in isn’t one which is necessarily common among owners, in order to prove ownership.
 B in his defense will argue that it was C’s responsibility to ask him what he was doing on the land.  Even though C had no idea (presume) that A had amnesia, it would not have been very difficult for her to merely ask him and not A what he was doing just to be sure, after all she is buying the property.

Now, assuming the court says that as far as inquiry notice C has passed, another issue is whether she had record notice.
  The sale of the land was done under the name Ruiz, A.A. when it went from A to B.  But when A purchased the property from O, she purchased it under the name Astoria.  Under the majority test and certainly under the minority test, C could not have been expected to note this type of name change.
 However we don’t know certain circumstances, such as when A introduced herself to C, what name she used.  If it was Ruiz, then C could have checked the index and she would have seen that the property had been deeded over to B, but she wouldn’t have seen the O(A transaction. The situation should have seemed “fishy” to her and perhaps required her to do more legwork. If it was Astoria, she wouldn’t have seen the A(B transaction. 

Question 4R: Model #4 (Recording Act Issue Only):  This student displays a good knowledge of how the recording system operates and was one of the few students to see the Zimmer Rule issue.  Like Student #3, #4 incorrectly treats inquiry of seller as sufficient to meet inquiry notice burden.  Regardless of race, notice or race-notice, C will win.
  B being first may not actually matter because his deed has an incorrect name in the grantor-grantee index.  The name variation means C will not have notice from the records because it is a wild deed outside the chain of title.  The courts place the burden of correcting mis-recordings on the person who is receiving the property rights in order to keep transaction cost down.  It would be prohibitively expensive for C to search under all possible names of previous owners.
  B will argue the fame of A dictates C should research all known names of A. This still adds costs to C. 
   

C also made a good faith attempt to investigate the property.  She made inquiries and asked what B was doing on the property.
  Since she made all reasonable inquires
 and nothing looked out of place and B was indeed the trainer, C had no inquiry notice because to C all things pointed to A as the owner.  A trainer would be hard pressed to buy such a property and A claimed to be owner.  And records said so.  

C also recorded first within the chain of title.  The Zimmer Rule will be invoked to discount B’s record.
  

Question 4R: Model #5 (Adverse Possession Issue Only):  This student sees all major issues, organizes well, and makes a pretty good attempt to argue both sides.  Could go into considerably more depth on key contested issues (normal use; exclusive).  Another issue that needs to be addressed is adverse possession.
  If we assume that B is the record holder of the deed, then we must consider if C would be entitled to the land though adverse possession.
  First, we would need to know the statutory time requirement for adverse possession. 
  We know C purchased the land in 1986 and that the government took the land in 1999.  If the statute of limitations is longer than 13 years, then C could not acquire the ownership of Waldenacre though adverse possession (AP).  If we consider the statute of limitations to be 13 years or less, then we do have to consider whether C adversely possessed the land:

Actual - C entered the land, but used it Asporadically@, bringing her class and nieces onto it a few times a year.
  It might be that this is enough use of the property if that is the typical use that is given to property in Nature (Alaska, Kunto). If this is not sufficient use, C could not have adversely possessed the land. One argument for C is that B=s use of his land was very minimal.  This may help C because a) it shows she conforms to typical use to constitute actual use b) if, as a mater of policy, Nature courts wish to see land used and the sleeping owner punished, then C can argue she used land more than B.

Open/Notorious - Assuming B is one rightful owner, was he aware that C was there?  We know only at this point that in the time C was there, B returned to do laps on the property. Given her limited use of the land B might not realize C was there, thus her AP would not be open or notorious.
 

Continuous  The primary concern for C is that she did not remain continuously on the land.  She only came a couple of times during the year.  However, this may be typical of Nature, and so C would still meet continuous requirement.  In Kunto court considered that seasonal use of a summer home was within continuous element.

Exclusive  Again, that B came back presents a problem for C.  If, However, Nature is like Pennsylvania, it may require that B re-assert his claim to the land by filing a claim within a certain time of his return.
  

Hostile - it appears C does meet this requirement because she did not have B=s permission to be on the land.

Color of title - C was on Waldenacre under color of title.  She believed she owned the land and had the deed to prove it.  This can reduce her burden of proof with respect to the actual element.  If she believes she has title, then she may not feel the need to be on the land or make improvements to it.

Question 4R: Model #6 (Adverse Possession Issue Only): Although this answer is quite one-sided, the student does a good job presenting detailed defenses of the positions taken, doing an especially nice job comparing the facts of cases to the facts here.  Note also:  the introduction and conclusion are unnecessarily wordy.  The eminent domain compensation should go to B b/c C has not adversely possessed the property.  To adversely possess, C must have (1) actual use (2) open and notorious use (3) continuous (4) exclusive and (5) hostile.
  

While C may have continuous and hostilely possessed the property, the other 3 elements have not been met.
  C continuously used the property over the years, even though she wasn’t there all the time b/c she used this wooded area as a normal owner would.
  The use was also hostile b/c B did not give her permission.

However, most significantly the use by C was not actual.  Physical possession is required which generally entails cultivation or structural improvement. In VanValkenburgh, structures such as a chicken coop were not enough to be actual, here nothing was built and no cultivation.  While in the Alaska Bank case, the ct. found that a small amt. of improvement was actually required on wooded and not normally-used property, some structural improvements were made. There, the defendant actually built a fence to keep out boy scouts.  Here C did not grow or build anything at all on the property so her use is not actual.  While she does have color of title and the requirement of actual may be lessened, she must actually physically possess the property w/ some sort of structure or garden.
  

Secondly, the use was not open and notorious for many of the same reasons.  C only used the property sporadically which still constitutes continuous b/c of the normal use of a wooded property doesn’t require use all the time, but C left no structures or gardens, no physical possession, that would have caused B to think that someone else was using the land when he visited.

Finally, the use was not exclusive b/c B interrupted her use for 2 weeks.  This means that the statute of limitations for adverse possession would begin in 1993 and 6 years (in 1999) is probably not long enough to meet the statute of limitations.
  Cts. have found that storing materials or property only for 3 weeks can interrupt the continuity so it makes sense that B=s jogging there for 2 weeks would also interrupt the statute.  However, if the Nature is a jurisdiction like Pennsylvania, B may have only had a year to bring a claim against C, in which case the exclusive element would have been met.
 

However, most significantly C=s use was not actual b/c it did not leave physical evidence in the form of cultivation or structural improvement, which also affected the open and notorious element.

Question 4S:  Outline of Issues:  The list below contains much more than you would have time to do in an hour but not every issue students collectively raised.

I.
Tort Liability


A.
Possible Rules



1.
Negligence (Stephens, Peterson, Trentacost) 



2.
Implied Warranty of Habitability (Trentacost)



3.
Both Necessary (Asper)

4.
Traditional (negligence because in common area)

5.
Strict liability (Louisiana statute) (if so then H liable)


B.
Negligence



1.
Foreseeable? (trentacost)




a.
threats suggest possibility of violence from teens




b.
BUT:





i) maybe just talk





ii) M excitable so might overstate

(“Oh my god …”; leaves right away, etc.)





iii) K wasn’t worried enough to stop swimming




c.
may turn on whether H knows of prior violence by teens



2.
reasonable steps to prevent? (told some parents)




a.
H says enough





i) how else deal with minors?





ii) limited time to deal with (violence happened next day)




b.
M says no





i) should have talked to all parents





ii) could have closed pool at night (tho promised to M)





iii) could hire security (tho expensive)




c.
policy:  how much must landlord do to prevent?





i) security is clearly more than simple lock in Trentacost





ii) maybe provide good incentive not to have common areas 

open when can’t supervise


C.
Implied Warranty



1.
Trentacost: primary difference is ldld not required to have notice



2.
Here, appears ldld did, so maybe no effect



3.
But if reasonable landlord would have different safety precautions 

re pool at night, maybe helps M

i) e.g., lighting

ii) e.g., no use at night rule

D.
Other concerns



1.
Matter that violence by third party?




a.
most states hold ldld responsible




b.
unfair to make ldld responsible for 3d party acts?




c.
if landlord in position to prevent, maybe male liable



2.
Matter that 3d party lived in complex?




a.
maybe greater duty because ldld brought in

b.
BUT much harder to prevent people in complex from doing violence if they want to. How does he keep teens from Kenny if complex has substantial common area?




c.
maybe liable if not evicted after violence & they do it again



3.
Significance of H promise re pool




a.
he promised it would be operational, not perfect safety




b.
but maybe implied safety condition




c.
better case for duty of ldld if invited to use pool at night

II.
Constructive Eviction


A.
M may claim excused from paying rent for rest of lease b/c forced out


B.
Constr. eviction normally requires that premises be essentially unlivable



1.
no limit on use of apt here



2.
not major interference (compare Davidow; tenant can’t function)


C.
Breach of Implied Warranty doesn’t always allow termination



1.
FL: must be “material” & give 7 days written notice (none here)



2.
Some times too small to excuse performance


D.
Possible claims by M

1.
Promise by L re pool + importance to K means purpose of leasing apartment includes pool, so inability to use should allow termination

2.
Trauma associated with beating justifies termination of the lease even if not technically constructive eviction (too uncomfortable to continue to reside at the scene of the crime; can’t see pool without reliving it)

III.
Landlord Damages & Duty to Mitigate


A.
If Constructive Eviction, Landlord Not Entitled to $ for rest of lease


B.
Surrender & Acceptance



1.
Common Law:  Tenant pays all of rent owing unless acceptance




a.
c.l.: H accepted surrender by trying to lease




b.
tenant’s responsibility ceases once H shows apt.



2.
Now have to show H intended to accept (Reid) or T liable




a.
M surrender by mail so no option by H to say no




b.
Reid:  merely showing apt. isn’t acceptance




c.
no other evidence of intent to accept


C.
Duty to mitigate



1.
most jurisdictions require H to mitigate (not Fla or Restatement)



2.
Isbey:  just means not actively preventing reletting




a.
running ads & showing apt = actively seeking




b.
enough under Isbey



3.
Ruud requires landlord to behave as though leasing on own behalf




a.
ads here same ones H generally uses




b.
did show apt; not clear if pushing people to take other apts





i) if discouraging, maybe not same as on own behalf





ii) but maybe should have right to fill others first





iii) but for breach, maybe both would be full




c.
might check if H normally does more when on own behalf


D.
What damages?



1.
If doesn’t meet duty to mitigate, no rent for 1st 2 months



2.
Otherwise, 1st two months + cost of mitigation




a.
not ads if run regularly anyway




b.
cost of time to show apts etc.



3.
H entitled to cost of 1-bedroom vacated by new tenant until filled?




a.
would have had both but for breach?




b.
but if tenant wanted 2-bedroom, might have left complex

Question 4U:  Comments:  What I Was Looking For:  The problem contained four major clusters of issues, which are briefly summarized below:   

(1) Broken Deck:  Habitability & Related Issues:  You could address responsibility and liability for the broken deck through several different doctrines:

· Breach of Contract (lease requires a “usable” deck).

· Breach of Implied Warranty of Habitability (might apply where specifically contracted for, luxury housing, and safety issues).

· Breach of Implied Warranty of Suitability (might apply where C had notice of R’s purpose in buying house and deck specifically negotiated for).

· Actual Partial Eviction (if C responsible to fix/clean-up broken deck, failure to do so leaves “landlord’s” mess in backyard, rendering part of property unusable)

· Constructive Eviction/Breach of Covenant of Quiet Use and Enjoyment (seems unlikely because most of premises still usable and R is not cut off from primary intended use as residence; however, court might find deck integral to purpose of lease).

You then need to have some discussion of remedies for breach of any or all of the above: Was entitled to simply end the lease? What would be the appropriate damages? 

(2) Tort Liability:  Here, you should have noted the different rules for tort liability we studied, perhaps arguing that C’s participation in the construction might create liability akin to a regular contractor.  You then could have discussed the limited evidence of actual liability (e.g., JJ might not be a reliable contractor; the attempt to build quickly and cheaply might have reduced the quality of the work; C’s own participation might be actionable if she undertook tasks for which she had no expertise; properly made decks do not fall over during their first real use).

(3) Rejection of Assignee:  In some jurisdictions, C can only withhold consent for commercially reasonable reasons.  You should have noted that this rule doesn’t apply everywhere, then discussed the outcome if it did apply.  You should have assessed both of the reasons she provided; if either is reasonable, she probably will be allowed to reject.  

(4) Mitigation:  Here you should have noted that not all jurisdictions require mitigation and that the standards vary some in those that do.  You then should have discussed whether C’s acts might meet the tests.  relatively few of you spent very much time discussing the sufficiency of C’s efforts, but there was room for a discussion of missing information that would help resolve the problem (e.g., Was this C’s usual method?  How big was the sign?  Did the window in question face a busy thoroughfare?  How many people would see the flyers C posted at her work sites? etc.)

Common Problems:  (1) Discussing Uncontested Issues:  Many of you spent a lot of energy addressing issues that would not be contested by the parties.  For example, neither party is likely to claim that the agreement was a license rather than a lease; it is an agreement regarding a residence embodied in a form lease for a specific term.  Moreover, both parties will claim rights based on the landlord tenant relationship.  

In addition, many of you spent time discussing issues that were made irrelevant by the circumstances of the case.  For example, the appropriate remedy for breach of the IWH doesn’t really matter in the posture in which the case would arise.  R might have been able to repair-and-deduct, but he didn’t.  He might not have had the right to withhold rent (as opposed to suing for damages  afterward) but he did.  Because this lawsuit takes place after the lease term has expired, it simply will focus on the extent he was entitled to some reduction in the rent and will award damages either to R or C depending on whether he has already paid her enough.  

Similarly, there was no need to discuss the various kinds of lawsuits C could bring to collect rent that was due.  Because the lease term already has expired, she simply sues for the full amount of back rent owing and the court can take into account her mitigation efforts for the entire period after R vacated. 

(2) Providing Rules and Policies without Application:  Many of your discussions of issues you identified consisted simply of listing the relevant rules, sometimes providing the policies behind the rules.  Although you received a little bit of credit for correctly memorizing rules, to get higher than a minimally passing grade on this question, you needed to apply the rules to the facts. Many of the issues in the question unintentionally proved to be traps that allowed you to write a long paragraph or two without actually saying anything about the problem.  This was true particularly of the various tort rules and the several rules about the application of the duty to mitigate. As a general rule on an issue-spotting question, you should immediately apply to the facts any rule or policy you mention.  Remember that your task on an exam is not to show me how many rules you have memorized, but to show me that you know how to use the rules. 

(3) Doing One-Sided Analysis:  As with the short problems, I rewarded people who found serious arguments for both parties on major issues.  Many of you were much too fast to resolve some of the issues in the question.  For example, many of you were certain that C would be liable in tort.  However, if the deck fell over because some of the wood or hardware contained latent defects, she probably would not be liable even if she participated extensively in the construction process.  Similarly, many of you were certain that C’s rejection of M was unreasonable.  However, a court would likely be quite sympathetic with the notion that she shouldn’t have to rent the house next door to her own residence to someone whose appearance makes her very uncomfortable (so long as she wasn’t violating an anti-discrimination statute).

Model Answers:  The first model is very strong.  It is very well-organized and does a good job both presenting arguments about which rules are best and applying the rules to the facts of the problem.  It also made about twice as many relevant points as the class average.  The second model is not quite as good, but does quite solid work on all of the major issues, including very good analysis of the parties’ responsibility for repair of the deck and of the reasonableness of C’s rejection of M as an assignee.  

Question 4U: Student Answer #1:  I. Landlord tort liability: Claudine (C) will be liable for R's injury if R can prove C breached her duty of care to him depending on the duty of care imposed on landlords in the jurisdiction.  There are three different tests in different jurisdictions.  The strict liability test (Louisiana), negligence (see Stephens, Peterson), or negligence plus a breach of either the implied warranty of habitability or statute.  See Asper.

(1) Strict liability.  R should argue for this standard if possible.  Strict Liability increases the degree of liability upon landlords and insures that they are safer in their actions.  It leads to more settlements and is the simplest system to employ.  Because C assisted in the building of the deck, she has a duty much like a manufacturer in tort law.  Using strict liability will make it less likely that landlords will be as careless in the future.

C will argue that strict liability should not be imposed because this is a luxury item.  She can argue that such a standard sets too high a burden for landlords (although her personal carelessness makes her a very unsympathetic party).  Also, R was living there at the time of construction and had some idea of what kind of work was being put in.  Finally she can argue that the trend in most jurisdictions is away from strict liability.

(2) Negligence.  If jurisdiction uses a negligence standard, R must try to prove that the gravity of potential harm is high (serious broken ankle), that the probability of injury was high (which is reflected by its breaking the first time R used it), that C maintained control over the operation (which she did to some extent), and that the burden of making it safer is low.  While negligence makes it less likely that injured tenants will collect, it protects reasonably safe landlords from being punished for things they did not know or had no reason to know of that were outside of their control.  

Here, C can try to cast the blame on James Johnson, who had more expertise than her and was a carpenter, not just a friend.  However, R can try to prove the landlord was acting in bad faith, and that she is trying to protect her negligent friend by saying she can't find him.  Overall, the burden of improving the deck would not be great.  C used it almost like a marketing tool because she convinced R to pay the higher rent because of the deck.  Negligence and strict liability both, therefore, favor R, as he is mostly an innocent plaintiff (maybe he should have checked to see maximum weight allowable on deck before moving kegs and furniture there), with a very serious injury, which C could have prevented by making sure JJ was safer.

(3) Negligence and IWH (Asper/Restatement)  Negligence favors Russell (see 2 above)  IWH may apply depending on whether the jurisdiction considers a deck to be vital to the use of the premises that was intended (see Knight).  Must determine if IWH applies.

II.  IWH:   (1) Does It Apply?:  The IWH ensures that premises are minimally safe, that all "vital" functions are served, and that no housing statutes or codes are broken.  Marini stated that “vital” varies depending on the amount of rent and type of property.  However, Wade suggested that the IWH does not require perfection.  Here, the deck is a somewhat luxury-like item - it is not as vital as, for example, a toilet or heating/electricity.  However, the deck was a reason that R decided to rent.  R told C that he intended to throw large parties - this suggests that one of the purposes required a usable deck.  But, C can argue that all of the bare living essentials are nevertheless met.  If the deck was to be used to entertain clients, she can argue that it was commercial in nature, and that the IWH does not extend to commercial cases.  However, he could argue that even if the guests were clients, Davidow requires an implied warranty of suitability.  Because the deck was unsuitable to use for parties, it was a breach of that as well.  Overall, this seems to be a breach, as it was a part of the negotiated deal, is a high-priced house, and deck completely does not serve its intended purpose.

(2) Rent Abatement:  If IWH applies there are 3 different calculations for rent abatement: expectation damages, out-of-pocket damages, % diminution.  R should argue expectation damages should apply as he is someone who negotiated in a good deal - if C estimated the value at $1,800 without the deck, and R rented for $1,800 with the deck, he got a bargain and should be able to reap the benefits.  C should argue that the expectation damages will be too speculative, that out-of-pocket would be best because that is the price they decided was fair.  It seems overall that the deck was worth $300 to R - that would mean that using either calculation, probably the result would be the same (even with percentage diminution because the percentage would likely be 16%-1/6 of the value.)

(3) Notice:  Under some statutes, R would be required to give written notice before withholding rent or breaking a lease. See Fla Stats. He only gave oral notice here, which may be insufficient.  

III.  Assignability: R can claim that C unreasonably withheld consent under Hinky.  If the jurisdiction does not apply Hinky, and instead applies Epstein (the traditional rule), R has no claim here.  R will argue that this non-consent was unreasonable under Hinky because it was arbitrary.  Mike  is more likely to be able to pay rent because he is a partner, not an associate like R.  C already rented to a lawyer - there is no good reason not to rent to another lawyer.  There is no reason for her to believe that M cannot pay or will be a disruptive tenant.  Also, allowing assignability will protect alienability of land.

But C can argue that since she lives next door, the added personal relationship and her personal discomfort with Mike's appearance is reason enough to withhold consent.  She would be able to refuse to rent to M under the FHA - so why should assignability be any different?  Also, she can argue that Hinky applies only to commercial tenants with long leases and that having a vacant storefront causes a lot more economic harm to the neighborhood than one empty house.  R should honor his contractual commitment, pay the rent owed (which is much more than a mere rent abatement under the IWH would be), and Epstein should be followed.  Overall, C's personal problems with people who look like M and the fact that Hinky applies to commercial makes it likely that a court will allow her to withhold consent, unless the court puts an extremely high value on free alienability and discouraging vacancy.

IV.  Mitigation:  C can claim (1) that the traditional rule forbidding mitigation should apply and (2) if not, R should have to prove that she did not use reasonable diligence under Isbey, a burden which he cannot meet.

(1) Traditional rule - should it apply?  Under the traditional rule, landlords had no duty to mitigate.  This rule as defended by the arguments that (A) mitigation encourages tenants to breach (B) the breaching tenant should be punished, not the innocent landlord, (C) preventing mitigation reduces the total cost of the breach to society, and (D) that landlords are encouraged to relief anyway because of the problem of the judgment-proof tenant.  R will encourage the application of the modern rule under Reid, which (A) discourages vacancy, (B) avoids charging the tenant a penalty-like damage, (C) is the trend, and (D) applies to both tort law and contract law.  However, if this takes place in Florida, C has no duty to mitigate until she re-enters the premises, a step not taken here.  See Florida Statutes.  Overall, the trend rule for mitigation, because it protects less sophisticated tenants, should apply, even though R is an attorney so the stereotype about him being less sophisticated does not apply.

(2) If trend rule applies: C should push for a standard of reasonable diligence under Isbey, where the tenant has the burden of proving landlords did not take reasonably diligent steps to re-let.  C can argue that putting up a "for-rent" sign and handbilling suggests that she was open to the idea of re-letting and would have had the right person offered to rent.  But, R can urge the Reid should apply, and that C should have to prove that she took steps that were objectively reasonable, actively and in good faith.  He will argue that C did not hire a real estate agent, which is one factor to consider, but not determinative.  See Ruud.  Also, proving a negative is very difficult and puts an unreasonable burden upon R.  Overall, C took some steps to re-let, which would be sufficient under Isbey but possibly insufficient under Reid.

Question 4U: Student Answer #2:   C will argue that R owes her rent for October and November and that he owes her rent for the remainder of his lease (5 additional months).  R will counter that C is responsible for his injuries for building a faulty deck, that she did not repair the deck, that she unreasonably withheld consent when he proposed a transferee, and that she failed to mitigate her damages by making reasonable efforts to find a new tenant.

R agreed to pay $1,800 a month but C also promised to build him a usable deck.  She did build a deck, but it collapsed only a few days after it was finished, so R can say it was not usable.  (Was clause about deck valid since on back of lease?  Did both initial it?)  C might even claim that the collapse of the deck is R's fault, as it occurred after he placed numerous items on it, perhaps over-burdening it.

Assuming that unusability is C's fault, is this a material breach that allows R to terminate the lease, or a minor one that might justify only withholding some rent, or repairing deck at his own expense and deducting it from rent?  C could say the house is perfectly usable without the deck.  An IWH, if there is one, wouldn't require a house to have a deck.  R would counter that where there is a deck, it should be usable, not broken down.  Also, in this case, the deck was an important part of the agreement.  He wanted it so he could throw large parties, and the deck was a specifically negotiated provision of the lease.  He can say he wouldn't have signed lease without deck provision.  Also, if there is IWH in this jurisdiction, it is implied a deck is safe to walk on.  Also, repairs would be the duty of landlord where there is an IWH.  Besides, this is more than just repairing a deck.  It sounds as if it amounts to replacing the deck, which sounds more like a landlord's duty than a tenant's.  Because of the importance of the deck to the initial deal, R will probably win on the issue of the deck being a major breach that justified his terminating the lease.

R would have an additional argument that the collapsed deck amounts to a partial eviction, that because it was unusable and the collapse made the whole area unusable, he was effectively evicted from using the area where the deck was placed.  As the deck was a major factor in the bargain, this would strengthen his case against C.  C. can counter that there were no problems with the house itself, and one still has a place to live even if it doesn't have a deck.  A deck is hardly necessary to habitability.

R also has a tort liability case against C for the injuries he suffered when the deck collapsed.  If this is in Louisiana, it will be a strict liability case and C will be liable for the damages from the collapse.  In any other state, negligence rules will be applied.  Did C violate a duty of reasonable care in having deck built?  Facts say JJ was a carpenter.  Was he a professional carpenter?  Or just an amateur carpenter she hired because he was her friend (and was cheap)?  Had she checked out his credentials?  His past work?  Had he built decks before?  If R can show that C did not take reasonable steps to assure she got a good carpenter, he can say C was not exercising due care.  Also, he can point out C helped JJ build the deck, so she failed to take due care to make sure he built it right.

C can respond that she is not a carpentry expert herself and she did not have the expertise to second guess JJ's carpentry decisions.  If she had reasons to trust JJ's judgment, she should explain what they were.  JJ's sudden departure and unavailability make one wonder about his reliability and to question how thoroughly C screened him.  As the deck appears to have been very faulty, and as C seems to have shown little care (at least as far as the facts given show) to ensure a safe deck, chances are she will be held liable for R's injuries (broken ankle).

R can also argue that C unreasonably withheld consent to his proposed assignee/sublessee Mike, who offered to "take over" R's lease (sound more like assignment than sublease).  Though lease says R can assign only with C's consent, many jurisdictions hold that consent cannot be unreasonably withheld.  If this is a jurisdiction where landlord can withhold for any reason, R has no case on this unless he can get the court to make a policy change (arguing tenant's right to freely alienate property).  

If the state requires the landlord to be reasonable, however, R can argue that C was not reasonable.  Since M is a partner at a law firm, he would most likely be able to pay the $1,800 per month rent.  C's objection that he looks like her sister's ex may be too subjective to be considered "reasonable."   (Would the average "reasonable" person object to M's looks?)  C can argue that she gets more leeway for her subjective dislike because she resides next door, but this argument is not as strong as if she lived in a small (say, four unit) apartment building or even a duplex, where she would be in even closer contact with M.  Also, this jurisdiction may make a distinction about whether C can discriminate based on the number of properties she owns (facts say she owns "several").  If she owns above a certain number, she may not be able to discriminate.  A high premium is placed on the tenant's right to freely alienate property, so C's objection to M would probably be found unreasonable.

R can also argue that C failed to mitigate damage when he moved out.  All she did was put a sign in window and put up handbills at a few businesses that hired her as photog.  Whether this is considered enough may depend on whether such actions were successful in the past in getting tenants.  It also depends on whether or not this jurisdiction requires landlords to mitigate or goes by the old doctrine of surrender which said that if a landlord re-entered the property, he was accepting the tenant's surrender and terminating the lease.  The fact that C took some steps to find a new tenant indicates she thought she had some duty to mitigate.  If she did, was it enough?  She'd have stronger case if bought newspaper ad or hired real estate agent.  R can argue she should have done these things.  As C's efforts to mitigate seem very minimal, a court would probably find for R on the mitigation issue.

Because of her own failure to mitigate, negligence, etc., a court will probably not be too sympathetic toward C's efforts to get R to pay his back rent.   R has a better change of getting damages for his injuries, could possibly even get percentage diminution for rent he paid while he lived in house without deck.

Q4V: PROFESSOR’S  COMMENTS: 
This question proved more difficult than I anticipated, but did a good job demonstrating whether you uinderstood the way that different parts of the course related to each other. In particular, it tended to reveal which of you understood the relationships between traditional promissory servitudes and both modern homeowners’ associations and assignment/subleases.  Both model answers understand the relationships well and contain some nice discussion of several major issues. Major topics that should have been covered included:

Olivia’s Responsibility for Breaches of Covenants:  As the owner of the units in question, O is responsible for conforming to the covenants.  G’s agreement to conform does not relieve O of responsibility to the Elsinore Estates Homeowners’ Association (EE) unless EE has expressly agreed to let O off the hook (no evidence of that here).  Thus, O will be responsible unless the covenants are completely unenforceable under state law.  You thus needed to analyze them under at least the Nahrstedt majority and might have tried to apply the Nahrstedt dissent or the Susan French Bill of Rights as well.  Note that promissory servitude analysis does not apply both because the state statute makes owners responsible and because O and EE are the original parties to the agreement, so it doesn’t have to run to anyone.


Association & Late Fees:  Association fees were upheld in Nahrstedt and should meet all the Nahrstedt tests unless they are wildly disproportionate to the services provided.  Late fees are important because late payments disrupt EE’s ability to meet its own obligations; they almost certainly would be upheld.


Garbage Pick-Up:  This is a real provision from a Miami-area association.  Your analysis was complicated by factual assumptions you made while addressing it.  The underlying problem occurs only if (1) garbage is picked up after people leave for work but before rush hour (true in many places) and (2) at least sometimes empty trash receptacles are left in the street or are blown there by the wind.  Assuming both these things are true, the provision won’t violate any public policy and is related to genuine interests of the EE.  The harder question under Nahrstedt is whether the burden on households in which nobody is home during the day is greatly disproportionate to the benefits to the residents.  Arguably, if you had to leave work early once or twice a week just to make sure your trash cans weren’t in the street, that would be pretty harsh, especially in places where people have long commutes.  On the other hand, if it is possible to pay someone a small fee to take care of it (as seems to be true here) it might be OK.


Overnight Guests:  Here, the purpose is to prevent people from evading the limit on the number of tenants by having semi-permanent overnight “guests.”   A court might find that, as applied to short stayovers by relatives etc., it was too much of a burden.  Similarly, a court following Shack might see it as too much interference with the tenants right to control access to their own residence.  However, it’s important to remember that nothing prevents the tenants from entertaining out of town guests in their residences if the guests, e.g., stay at a motel.  Moreover, the court in Nahrstedt did not focus on whether the particular cat caused problems or whether the owner would be particularly upset without the cat.  This suggests that you would have to make a pretty strong case before you could succeed on this claim.

Hamlet’s Responsibility For Breaches of Covenants:  G agreed to conform to the EE covenants and to be responsible for O’s fees and garbage cans.  However, she is unavailable and the question asks you about H’s liability.  H never expressly agreed to any of that, so you need to determine whether the burdens on G (the original promisor here) run to H.  O would presumably prefer damages here to reimburse her for the fines she may have to pay, but you could analyze the problem for both types of promissory servitudes.  Note that H is not automatically bound by the covenants under the state statutes, which refer only to owners.  


Intent:  There is no language referring to successors, although a court might imply intent if there is some evidence that O and G contemplated the possibility of assignment or sublease


Privity:  There is horizontal privity here because O and G are in a landlord-tenant relationship.  Whether there is vertical privity depends on whether the “lease” between G and H is an assignment or a sublease.  There are reasonable arguments either way many of which you can find in the model answers.


Notice: Because the G-H agreement refers to the earlier O-G agreement, a court might find that H has inquiry nortice of its terms, although it is not clear whether we normally expect a sublessee to look for the original lease before agreeing to move in.  Similarly, the EE covenants are recorded, but it surely would not be typical to ask a residential tenant to check the records.  Thus, notice would turn on how much burden a court thought appropriate to place on residential assignees and sublessees.  Note that H’s actual information about the need to bring in the trash cans is only with respect to his own unit (where he is not in breach).  


Touch and Concern: Association fees touch and concern under Nahrstedt and most modern caselaw.  The limit on overnight guests refers to use of the unit, so presumably touches and concerns.  Bringing in the garbage cans for the unit next door is a very weak case for touch and concern; it seems to benefit the other lot without much affect one way or the other on the value of H’s lot.


Other Issues:  O might have waived any claim she had to having the garbage taken in by doing it herself.  She might have waived any claim that H was an assignee by saying she was not his landlord.  O could claim she was a third party beneficiary of the H-G contract because she received rent directly.  However (although we really diden’t discuss this) that would only give her the right to enforce the terms of that contract, which wouldn’t help much here.

Plumbing Problems:  The type of plumbing problems described almost certainly involve a breach of warranty of habitability, if one applies.  You might note that not every state has them and some don’t apply or are waivable for single family homes.  If the sewage smell is strong enough, there might even be constructive eviction.  Indeed, if O refuses to repair, H may be just as happy to leave and let O try to chase after him.


O may claim that she owes no duties to H, which is traditionally true if he is a sublessee.   However, a court might find that O has to comply, e.g., with applicable housing codes or even the warranty of habitability if she is to rent out the unit at all. H and O may each have to decide as a matter of strategy whether to argue that there is an assignment (which helps H on habitability issues but makes him liable for the covenants) or a sublease, which probably leaves them both chasing G.

Q4V: STUDENT ANSWER #1

Nahrstedt As the homeowners association filed the proper paper work with the State, states have a presumption that the terms of the covenant are reasonable. Under Nahrstedt, a restriction may be found unreasonable if a) it violates public policy b) the burden far outweighs the benefit or c) the restriction is arbitrary in that it bears no rational relation to preservation, operation, or purpose of the premises.

Trash in by 5 pm:  HOA claims helps preserve the appearance of the community and avoids traffic problems. These reasons would seem to bear a rational relationship to the purpose of the community looking nice and being safe. However it appears an unreasonable burden to get home by 5 pm to take trash in when most people get home from work after 5 pm. When there is very little benefit of appearance to have them in at 5 rather than say 7 or 8 pm. So perhaps, Ophelia could get a Ct to find this unreasonable. 

Overnight guests: Similarly, rationally related to the purpose of the land to prevent short term residents in the community, but the means by which they are doing it – not allowing any overnight guests – is hugely burdensome on the owners. Most people would consider this an essential element of owning your own home and therefore, this seems to far outweigh any benefit from the slight possibility that an overnight guest might turn into a short term tenant. Therefore, Hamlet or Ophelia, whoever is bound (discussed below) under this covenant should not be bound by this restriction since it is unreasonable under Nahrstedt.  

Assignment or Sublease?  Gertrude was a long term 2 year tenant. She signed her lease over to Hamlet 2 months after taking possession. To determine whether Hamlet was a sublease or assignee, the ct in Ernst considered the intent of the parties. The c/1 rule was that if the transferred right was even 1 day less than the term of the original lease it was a sublease. Here the term is for 15 months, while the remaining time on the lease is 7 months. Hamlet then has the discretion to decide whether he wants to stay the extra 7 months. Therefore this would point the intention of the parties to be a sublease. Gertrude may still have a reversionary interest. BUT, Hamlet paid his rent directly Ophelia and this is after evidence of an assignment. Also it is clear that Gertrude had little intention of coming back and in fact she was unreachable and far away in Europe. Therefore it would appear they intended an assignment and perhaps if Hamlet does not want to stay 7 more months, he has to find another tenant.

Promissory Servitude between Gertrude and Ophelia:  There were 3 promises in the lease that could be answered as creating a promissory servitude. These were 

1. Gertrude was to pay HOA dues directly to the HOA 

2. Gertrude agreed to be bound by all the covenants 

3. Gertrude agreed to bring in her trash at # 2 and Ophelia’s at # 4 before 5:00 

These are all enforceable between the 2 original parties. The question is are they enforceable against Hamlet? Does the burden run with the land? 

Intent:  There is no specific language about intent to bind other subtenants or assignees, but since this took place in the context of a lease, it might be presumed that any tenant taking over the lease would be bound by them (especially an assignee) 

Privity: Horizontal met because landlord-tenant; vertically met if assignment. 

Notice -  There is no mention in the problem about whether Hamlet saw the original lease or knew of the requirements – so perhaps not met. Yet, he knew about brining in the garbage and he knew they lived in HOA presumably by looking around – so perhaps inquiry notice. Also the HOA covenants, if it was properly recorded, would provide record notice of all the things in HOA covenant which Ophelia’s tenant was bound by under the lease.  

T&C – It is sufficiently linked to land vs. personal? Paying dues to HOA in general has been found Neponset to T&C land. However it was Ophelia’s duty as landowner to pay the dues to the HOA under the covenant, and so perhaps it is more personal than connected to the land that Ophelia has Gertrude by HOA directly. Similarly it seems personal to have Gertrude take  Ophelia’s garbage in the house  just a personal convenience for Ophelia than something related to land. For these reasons, perhaps Hamlet should not be bound by the restrictions in the lease – perhaps there was no real convent or equitable servitude here. 

Habitability:  Similarly, if there was an assignment here, Ophelia’s duties as landlord should apply to Hamlet and if this jurisdiction recognizes them, the covenant of quiet enjoyment and the implied warranty of habitability may apply.

Covenant of Quiet Enjoyment:  The covenant of quiet enjoyment is implied in most leases, though in some states it must be expressly written in lease. If the landlord through an act or omission results in the premises being substantially unsuitable for the purposes for which they are leased, then the tenant has been constructively evicted. 

Here there were sewer gases leaking into the house. Previous cases (cited in Cooper) have held that sewage leaks into the house make the premises substantially unhealthy to live in (as they are toxic) and if the landlords actions led to this problem the tenant has been constructively evicted. Here, he notified Ophelia about the leak and she refused to fix it, so though she did not causes the problem, as in Cooper, were the landlord refused to fix the flooding problem, Ophelia failed to fix the sewage problem. Therefore a constructive eviction has occurred if the smell of sewage is sufficiently harmful and present in high enough levels.

Habitability:  Many states, though not all, imply the warranty of habitability. It holds that if the T notifies the landlord of a problem relating to the habitability of the home (the warranty says premises must be safe, clean and appropriate for human habitation) and does not fix the problem within a reasonable amt. of time, the warranty has been breached. Cts often look to health and safety codes to see if they are violated. Here sewer leakage into the home surely violates health codes and therefore the warranty of habitability may have been breached. However, some states do not apply this doctrine to single family homes, so since this is a single family home, Hamlet may not be able to use this theory.

Ophelia & HOA:  Ophelia is bound by the HOA covenant – which stated that it bound all initial and subsequent owners. Under the statute, she is bound as a homeowner to the HOA covenants. The covenant does allow her to have tenants but it holds that she is bound to pay the does as owner and as homeowner, she is ultimately responsible for all of the restrictions in the covenants. So while Hamlet may be liable to Ophelia for any violations of his lease (if he was an assignee of Gertrude’s lease) for any fines or violations or unpaid dues because they were in the contract, it seems that Ophelia should be directly, liable to the HOA for any fines or dues (unless restrictions found unreasonable by a Ct). Ophelia may have waved condition by trying to get home early and take containers of garbage in herself. Therefore maybe Hamlet not liable for any fines related to this. 

Q4V: StudeNT ANSWER #2

Under Nahrstedt can challenge the overnight guest's covenant. 

Public Policy: O may argue that there should be a public policy against protecting right to allow guests to spend the night inside the property unless there is clear evidenc of misconduct by guest or actions that will be detrimental to the community followed by subsequent individual restrictions. What if family comes in from out of town or in the case the father plumber who may be tired and needs to crash.. Overall, I think public policy claim is not that strong because we are not dealing with issues such as discrimination based on race or sex where there are clearly articulated public polices. 

Means Rationally Related to Ends:  It is generally know that owners will take greater care of the property than non owners but this really may only be the case in the long term. Here in this case the dad stayed over for one night and there is no differentiation btw guests who are on the property for a short versus a long time so the restriction's basis may be questionable. But this is generally a loose standard for the HOA to prove and deference is usually given to HOA to decide. If you don't like it try to amend and not run into court with a problem.

Burdens substantially greater than the benefits to the community:  Here we need some more facts, how many residents are detrimentally affected by the guest policy? Assuming that all residents are aware of what goes on at HOA meeting then presumably not enough to rally an amendment because none is mentioned thus the burden is small and there are always motels or staying outside the community with somebody else. Also here the benefits of the restriction, clean property, well kept will increase property values thus benefits overall outweigh burdens. 

Servitudes in Lease:  O has leased property #2 to G under a term of years, 2 years. G had actual notice of the rent, dues also that she had to follow all the covenant that would bind the owner of #2 because this information was all contained in the lease. H. Privity is met because of the L-T relationship. The dues, rent and duties under the covenants for #2 all touch and concern the property physically, and Neponsit established that dues are necessary for the community to function as a whole. The obligation to take out the trash for unit four does not touch and concern because this

is personal in nature, the reason for the agreement is that G had free time and O did not, also no physical touch and concern because it is with respect to #4 and not #2 which is the burdened land. Because the agreement for take out the trash for #4 is personal to G rather than to the land it would not be enforceable against later parties. 

Assignment or a sublease? On the face of the doc. which G and H entered into it would appear that we have an sublease with an option to create an assignment. So if the option is not exercised therefore we would have a sublease and G would hold a reversion and after the 15 months of sublease were up the interest would revert.  If the option were exercised (no evidence of exercising) then the lease would be assigned to H and G would no longer have any interests. There is no consideration for this option so it can be seen as a gift, thus there is evidence that this may be an assignment. A strict reading of the language would indicate a sublease because the option has not been exercised. If we look to intent of the parities, it may be a assignment, be G is leaving the country for a new job which usually lasts for more than 22 months, maybe this is a job that is short term which would mean that G would be coming back indicating a sublease. Did

she take all her stuff with her?

Privity: Horizontal privity is met across the board because of the L-T relationship. If this is a sublease then there is not vertical privity between G and H because they do not hold the same leasehold. If H is treated as an assignee than vertical privity is met because H holds the same lease hold as G. No vert. privity means requirements for rc which would entitle O to damages against H for breach of covenants that touch and concern the property and also which were "intent to bind sucessors was met." 

Intent to bind: no language in the lease between G and O, nothing in the quoted covenants about renters, thus we need to establish implied intent. Well if you are renting a condo you are generally expected to pay the association fees directly or there are included in the rent payment. H can argue that he thought that there were included with the rent and O will rebut by arguing that there were seperate and intended to bind. Overall implied intent may be established. 

Touch and concern, as mentioned above, the dues and the duties for number 2 touch and concern because these are burdens and the burdens run with the land that H was in possession of. The requirement to take out the trash for number four was personal to G, does not physically touch and concern apt. 2 therefore since the burden does not run with property 0 cannot enforce and H. Further evidenced by kid helping with the trash for #2 be that belong to H, normal duty. Also cannot enforce fines for overnight guests.

Notice: if we want an injunction we must prove notice. This will be hard, no mention of a lease by G to H so no actual notice, inquiry notice maybe because of social norms but might not be clear. Hard to establish notice and not clear how an injuction would serve O's purposes here.

Warranty of habitability (if it applies in the jurisdiction) There is no evidence of being contracted around. May have been breach because the place smelled like sewage and had severe plumbling problems; this is generally not habitable. However, the problem may be limited in scope, limited to certain areas of the house, need more facts to determine. It looks to be pretty bad based on how many complaints in various forms were made.

H can argue that the dues were not paid because this was a deduction for the damages caused by the problem and if the jurisdiction allows tenants to do this then he will win but he needs evidence of this. If it only effects part of the apartment then we are talking about about grounds for partial constructive eviction, failure to fix, so T can deduct damages is some jurisdictions. If the problem is so bad that the apartment is uninabitable completely the tenant can stop paying rent and leave, good choice for H becasue 0 not likely to track down and would

be stuck with the bill.  

Overall:  The home owners association is going to have a claim for damages against O for the #4 trash because she was the owner and she agreed to the promise as part of the original purchase. Also O started to assume the duties of G, thus this obligation to take trash for number 4 may have been waived and is not enforceable against H.


HOA will go after O for dues claims, and guest violation fees as well but O will seek damages from H if classified as an assignemt.  If the agreement is a sublease then O will go after G for dues, guests, garbage for both units which were both binding on her. Problem she is not in the country!!! And if this is the case then O may still be subject warranty of habitability claims because depending on jurisdiction not sure on this that this warranty is based on the property and the person living there really is not an issue. 

Question 4W:  Professor’s CommentsThese were generally pretty good.  I rewarded students who correctly identified contested issues, made arguments for both parties, and carefully used the facts.  Some analysis of the major issues follows: 


Will:  The question provides you with lots of facts designed to go to a discussion of undue influence.  The first model does a terrific job working through these.  In addition, you could discuss capacity, although there’s not a lot of evidence of incapacity except the possibility of pain medication.  The question says that the will “contained all the formalities necessary in the jurisdiction” so any discussion of number of witnesses, signing at the end, etc. was inconsistent with the facts you were given.


Implied Easement:  Only possibility here is an easement-by-implication. Split of properties and prior use are given and notice is likely given paved pathway across JJ’s lot.  Primary question is whether S intended the use to continue after the properties split.  Language re R’s lack of appreciation of lake mildly suggests not, but doesn’t seem to me to be conclusive, especially since a court might like the idea of continuing family traditions.  

Some jurisdictions require some necessity; if so, R will lose because access to recreational facility is never “necessary” to the use of the dominant parcel (needs to be landlocked without the access; it won’t be come worthless without the lake).  However, this would be an easement by grant (since grantor S is not retaining either parcel, so necessity requirement is less important).  Can also look at other facts made relevant by restatement, like:

· Other ways to get to lake (seems likely although all jet-skis might be launched from private docks.

· Affect on property value of the two lots (R’s lot depends on ease of alternatives; JJ’s lot may depend on proximity to house and how visible it is)

· Consideration paid by parties (both are gifts, so not very helpful, although hard for JJ to complain where it’s a gift)

Other kinds of easements not relevant here.  Easement can’t exist until property is split, so insufficient time for prescriptive easement and nothing in facts suggests that JJ gave R permission, so no easement by estoppel.  As noted, easement by necessity requires that parcel be landlocked; not an issue here.  Several of you treated as promissory servitude, but rights of way are easements and there’s no promise or common scheme to enforce here in any event.  


Duty to Disclose:  A could claim that she should be able to rescind because JJ did not disclose the noise from the lake.  In a caveat emptor jurisdiction A has no claim, and in a Stambovsky jurisdiction, A loses because I don’t see any way to argue that JJ created the jet-ski noise.   Thus, A would have to rely on Johnson.  The facts indicate she was unaware of the noise, but there was room for discussion of the other elements:


(i) No clear evidence in fact-pattern whether JJ knew, although she clearly has not owned the property very long and may never have stayed there.  However, she could have the info from, e.g., conversations with S or with neighbors.


(ii) Normally noise materially affects property value, but lake recreation during the day in the summer may not; access for jet-skis might make site valuable to some people.


(iii) A probably wouldn’t have been able to experience the jet-skis through earlier inspections because of the time of year, but signs etc might make their existence readily observable.  Moreover, you might discuss how much duty A has to inquire and research under the “readily observable” test.


Some of you discussed the concerns about the easement and the undue influence claim under duty to disclose.  However, these are both defects in the title and are best challenged as making title unmarketable.  Moreover, JJ did not know about either claim until the day she met R, so she would not have had to disclose.


Some of you suggested that the noise might be a nuisance, but, even if that were so, it would not give A an independent grounds to rescind the contract with JJ.  Moreover, A would face a “coming to the nuisance” defense if she went head with the purchase.


Marketable Title:  Assuming nothing in the form contract put any limits on JJ’s responsibility for title defects, A can claim that JJ’s title is not marketable because of the impending challenge to the will and because of the possible easement.  The will challenge would seem to be the kind of litigation that makes title unmarketable, although under the theory of Conklin, JJ might be able to prevail if a court thought that R’s claims were frivolous or if the will could be settled prior to the end of litigation over marketable title.  An undisclosed easement normally makes title unmarketable, but again, under the theory of Conklin, Andrea might be able to prevail.  In addition, some jurisdictions say that a visible easement does not make title unmarketable.

Question 4W:  Student Answer #1:  This answer does a very nice job identifying all the major contested issues and provided two-sided discussion of most of them.

Validity of Will:  R will try to argue that her father had a degenerative disease and changed his will just prior to dying. JJ will argue that the disease left SS’s mind “clear” and moreover the will itself shows that SS was lucid. R may try to argue the pain, medication, or fear of dying affected her father’s competency buy JJ will argue that SS’s intention was clear thru numerous actions/statements.


First, the bequests in the will show lucidity and understanding of his property and bounty. SS left art to a museum – this shows a grasp of his property and bounty. SS remembered that he changed his will and even threatened to change it back when JJ was trying to help him. This shows that SS consciously changed the heirs to his will. R may argue that by threatening to change it back, her father had changed it whimsically w/out really grasping the breadth of how important his decisions were. JJ can argue that SS made those comments when his blood pressure was low and he was in great pain. Moreover, JJ will say that her good intentions were shown when she asked SS the next day if he still wanted JJ to call his lawyer.


R may try to argue undue influence or duress by JJ. JJ was his nurse, and may be seen to have a confidential relationship. R will argue that her father was in terrible pain and lonely and was not a “free agent” to change his will b/c his nurse was constantly persuading him w/her not-so-subtle hints (i.e. b/c I’m trying to get all your money). JJ will argue she was “surprised” when SS’s lawyer actually came to the hospital and point to the fact that SS called his law firm on his own volition. Moreover, JJ will say she was only joking and never tried to persuade him. In fact, she even reminded him that he had threatened to change his will back and offered to call his lawyer.


R will then try to argue that JJ is friends with the lawyer (long-time friends) and JJ had a conversation w/ the lawyer immediately prior to SS changing his will. JJ will point to the fact that she left the hospital when the will was changed and did not offer to be a witness. Moreover, JJ will argue that SS’s will contained all the formalities req’d by the jur’n. In fact, the will was admitted to probate w/out a problem and the property distributed. I think R will have a difficult time challenging the will.

Easement:  R will argue that she has an implied easement to use the paved walkway. R will argue that the walkway was there when the parcel was split and has an existing use (to get to the lake from the main house). 


Furthermore R will argue that JJ and any subsequent buyer (AA) has at least inquiry notice b/c the path is paved and runs directly from the main house to the lake which should put a reasonable person on notice. R will argue that her father surely intended that she reserve an easement b/c “we’ve always used this path to go picnicking”. 


JJ will argue that the literal language of the will suggests SS’s intent was that R should not have access to the lake. SS deliberately gave R the east house b/c “she never really appreciated the lake anyway”, R will assert. JJ will argue that the easement isn’t “necessary” only convenient, and will place undue hardship on her or subseq. purchasers b/c of the acrimonious relationship b/w her and R.


R will argue that the easement should be allowed b/c it greatly affects the value of the house to have access to the lake. Although the language of the will can be interpreted differently, I think R will be granted an implied easement b/c the pathway had an existing use and was there when the parcel was split.

Duty to Disclose:  Whether AA can rescind may depend upon which test the jurn employs to decide a seller’s responsibility (Stambovsky, Johnson, caveat emptor, statutory list). If the jur’n uses caveat emptor, AA will not be able to even attempt to rescind based on the jet ski. 

If jur’n employs Stambovsky, again AA will probably not be able to rescind b/c of the jet ski noise. AA will argue that the jet ski noise is material to her and decreases value of house as it is right next to lake. JJ can argue that AA cannot rescind because a reasonably prudent purchaser would have inquired and found out about the noise pretty easily b/c according to R the lake is known locally as “Lake Make-A-Noise.”  JJ will also argue under Stambovsky that she has nothing to do w/ the jet ski noise, didn’t create it, heck and didn’t even know about it. 

Under Johnson, JJ will argue that she didn’t know about the noise (b/c she never lived there during the summer) and therefore could not have disclosed it to AA. Moreover, JJ will argue that jet ski noise is not a “material” fact that will change value of house as it is only during summer and during “nice” days. JJ can also point out under Johnson that the jet ski noise is readily observable if AA had come to the property at all or asked neighbors. AA will also argue that it was “the first warm, sunny day of the year” and she would have no opportunity to observe the jet skis yet. AA will argue that the noise is so bad it has earned a nickname and thus does materially affect the value under Johnson.  
I doubt AA will prevail in any of the tests required to rescind the K based on JJ’s duty to disclose the jet ski noise.

Rescind K Based On No Marketable Title:  AA will argue that JJ entered into a K to buy the property. AA will argue she had no notice of easement (b/c not even JJ knew) and that alone gives her the rt to rescind. Moreover, AA will argue she did not enter a K that would expose her to litigation, Lohmeyer. AA will point out that every sale of real estate comes with an implied marketable title, free from litigation. AA witnessed R’s threats to JJ to pursue litigation re the will (“get a lawyer”) and it is a quite logical assumption that R would pursue litigation with AA to obtain the easement to use the path. R claims “we will always use this path”.


JJ will argue that AA cannot rescind based on no marketable title b/c a reasonable person would have at least inquiry notice about such an obvious pathway across the property, particularly when it is paved. Or JJ could argue that there is no easement based on SS’s language in his will. This is a weak argument b/c it will still likely end in litigation b/w R and thus no marketable title. I believe AA will likely prevail if she tries to rescind the K based on the likelihood of future litigation making the title unmarketable.

Question 4W:  Student Answer #2:  I think the format used here (doing one side, then the other) can get in the way of nuanced discussion, but this student does a fine job using it to articulate a wide range of arguments.  This was the answer with the largest raw score.

Randi Challenging the Will

Randi’s Arguments: People in the hospital are in a bleak situation. They are uncapable of seeing the total picture. Even though his mind was clear, when he was in the hospital, his condition swayed his judgment to favor JJ b/c she was nice to him and gave him temporary satisfaction.


JJ was apparently a con artist who tricked my father into giving her some of his estate. She admitted to “trying to get you to leave me all your money”. When he actually did it, she said, “it’s about time”. When my father threatened her to cancel her portion, she said “you’re way to sick today to do anything like that”.


From her statements, it seems very apparent that JJ used undue influence on my father who was clearly slowly suckered into leaving her part of his estate. By calling him naughty and flirting with him, JJ was appealing to his sexual senses.


We know what men will do for sex. Furthermore, we know what men will do for the possibility of remote chance for something sexual. In my father’s case, b/c of his degenerative disease, it was likely that he wasn’t able to sexually perform, but men sure can imagine. Her flirting with him, stimulated his mind on a sexual manner, and was undue influence on his judgment.


Apparently, the other nurses said that JJ’s a con artist. A past record of her relationships with patients would be helpful. Is this the first patient she’s been extra nice to? Is she only nice to the rich ones? Has she accepted people’s will before? Has she been accused of undue influence before? Duress? People don’t normally give their money away to nurses. They give it to their family.


Randi will accuse JJ of talking to her high school lawyer friend Nelsy Buist and working with her to steal her father’s money. Having her friend as Scott’s lawyer does seem very shady.

JJ’s Arguments: In the patient-nurse relationship, these people have no hope, nothing to look forward to. Their entire outlook is determined by how the nurses treat them. That’s why I try to always be nice and friendly to the patients, to still give them something to be optimistic about. (assuming she’s nice to everyone and not just to him). 


Scott was known to be bad with all the nurses, so I tried to liven things up for him. Am I not allowed to joke to keep his spirits up? I wasn’t taking all his money. Those comments were just to keep him from getting so jumpy and antsy. I was surprised to see that he actually brought a lawyer and was serious about our jokes. I told Buist to make sure he was sure he wanted to give something to me and to make sure it passed legal formalities (using the Buist/JJ conversation to her advantage).


A couple days before he died, when he threatened to call his lawyer, he was very sick. He wasn’t in the condition to be making any decisions for good or bad. To prove my good intentions, I asked him the next day if he wanted to call, and he said no. Also, I was not present when the will was signed. That’s evidence that I didn’t exert undue influence.


I used reverse psychology, through my comments, on him to not be confrontational with him like the rest of the nurses were. Their accusations about me are pure jealousy that he responded well with me and “bats” with them.  

Counter by Randi: The will was not taped, so it doesn’t have video proof of its legitimacy. Buist could have been working to help JJ out. Also the facts state that JJ was surprised to see that the lawyer was Buist, not that a lawyer was sent. Therefore, it looks like she was expecting a lawyer to be sent. She only knew my father when he was sick and dying so she know she would be fixed up for a quick paycheck. Not like Webb where Donovan knew her four years prior.

Counter for JJ: I could only know your father when he was sick and dying, I was his nurse. You can’t hold that to my detriment. Originally, Scott told Randi that he called his lawyer and that his lawyer would come to fix the will. She never told him to call the lawyer. The facts say his mind was clear. Also, you weren’t even at his bedside, which made him cranky. Certainly, he wouldn’t give everything to you.

Counter for Randi: The reason why he was cranky was b/c since I am his only clear relative, he cared so much for me and loved me, so for me to be serving in the military, it worried him. Being his only close relative, your portion should go to me.

Conclusion: I think that JJ will prevail, as in Webb, in not having the family win. The facts say that he had a clear state of mind and it seems all JJ did was her job. Scott was extremely appreciative for her easing his last dying days/months so he gave her something to express that appreciation. That’s not a crime, or undue influence. She wasn’t present in the will signing and there’s no factual evidence that she acted in bad faith with Buist to gang up on Scott. Unlike Strittmater, Scott was not crazy and delusional. However, I am basing my opinion namely that his mind was clear as a matter of fact, instead of a doctor’s opinion. If facts are as is, JJ should prevail on the will.

Randi Using Walkway to the Lake


Randi’s share would be the dominant tenement and that JJ’s share is the servient tenement. Neither owned the land beforehand. Randi will argue that she always used that pathway, so she should have an implied easement. That it was implied that since JJ got the lakefront house, the path that was always used will continue to be used. It is not necessary  to have the easement to survive unlike plumbing in Van Sandt. It would be very hard to prove this is an easement by necessity.

JJ’s arguments: We don’t need to look any further than the language of the will. The reason why I was given the lake front estate is because Randi doesn’t like the lake. Why would I assume, even if there was a path, that she would use it if she didn’t like the lake. The reasonable inference is that Scott liked the lake and therefore the path was for him. Not Randi.

Randi’s argument: This isn’t a burden that is beyond comprehension not withstanding what my father wrote in the will. B/c at one point in my life, my father says I didn’t like the lake, that doesn’t lead me to forever not like the lake. The pathway is already there, we’ve been using it forever, and we will continue to use it. Easement by implication. 1) parcel split in two 2) historical use. 

JJ: The intent of Scott that can be inferred from the will is that you don’t use the lake

Randi: Not necessarily. I never appreciated the lake could mean by using it for waterskiing or other water activities, but I loved eating picnics by the lake. Also he was referring to when I was growing up. But now I am an adult; of course I would want to water ski.

Conclusion: I think that Randi will prevail b/c #1- she  used the pathway. #2- it gave constructive notice to JJ to ask what its there for. #3- the intent of “Randi never really appreciated it” is not so black and white to be binding forever. #4- unlike often which didn’t look to the time of the split, at the time of the split, she was “always” using the path, or the path was “always” being used. 

Whether Andrea can rescind the contract?

The two cases and tests that we have to look at are Stamborsky and Johnson. Being that it spoke of sunny days as if they were not regular occurances, it looks like this is not in FL or CA and maybe it is the summer in NY. But I’ll apply both tests either way.

Under Stamborsky: 

1 – This defect certainly wasn’t made by the seller. Like the reputation of the ghosts were made by the seller in Stambovsky.

2 – Materially affect the contract: certainly all the noise would materially affect the contract. Andrea could think that she was buying property by a lake where she wouldn’t hear a peep or where she could lay out. Now there’s noise and no privacy. But if there’s only like 5-10 nice days all summer, then maybe it won’t materially affect the contract.

3 – Not known to buyer: apparently it’s not known to the buyer. However it looks like she should have known. Andrea should have asked if it was private or non-noisy outside by the lake. She could have asked people in the local coffee shop what’s the story with the lake. She could have run internet searches. Maybe there is a  waterski retail business by the lake where she could have found out about it.  If it is really called Lake-Make-A-Noise then that name should give enough notice that there is noise.

Under Johnson: This is different than in Johnson where they said they fixed the leak, when they didn’t (fraud).

1 – Known to seller, not so clear b/c she just received the property, and if she got it in the winter and this was the “first” sunny day of the year, how would she know. It hasn’t been sunny before for her to know.

2 – Materially affect K, like Stambovksy test.

3 – Not readily observable, two issues, 1) the lake, well it seemed quite visible and once it was seen, pretty reasonable to ask if people use it and how often. 2) doesn’t seem like Andrea is bothered by the easement, but that is likely to be visible too.  

4 – Not known to buyer, apparently it wasn’t. 

Marketable title: according to Lohmeyer, marketable title means no future litigation, or at least the probability/likelihood of no future litigation.  Randi said, “I’m challenging the will, so if you don’t have a lawyer, you better hunt one down”. That implies that there will be future litigation. Looks pretty definite.  Even Conklin says marketable title isn’t a 100% guarantee of no future litigation, just not probable. Well, Randi’s statements look pretty probable that there will be future litigation.

Conclusion:  I think that it is likely Andrea will be able to rescind the contract because it will probably be a material alteration, if many sunny days, and if she asked for marketable title, then according to Lohmeyer and Conklin, she didn’t get it. However, my conclusion could come out the opposite if 1) she didn’t ask for marketable title and wanted the property “as is” 2) there were only 5 nice days all summer (then it wouldn’t materially affect the contract). Otherwise she had to do a reasonable investigation which simply by the name revealed everything. Of course, if Caveat Emptor is applied, then JJ is under no duty to disclose anything and you buy the house as is. Andrea would not be allowed to rescind the contract.

Question 4Z: Professor’s Comments:  There were a lot of solid answers and the two models are both very good.  Here are comments on your work arranged by the three questions I asked:

A) Nuisance:  Many answers included solid discussions of nuisance.  One weakness that showed up a lot was providing extended descriptions of possible legal rules without much application to the facts.  I was looking for some or all of the following:    


1) Distinction Between “the fair in general and from the rock concerts in particular.” I rewarded people who clearly distinguished between the two claims. The most important differences were that (i) the concerts did not begin until after M purchased his land; (ii) the fairgrounds are much less obviously suitable for rock concerts; and (iii) the utility will be much less than for the fair as a whole (although any activity bringing in lots of money must have some utility to those paying for it). 


2) Detailed Discussion of Harm & Utility:  The best answers included quite extensive assessments of the possible extent of both harms and utility, including whether L should be responsible for third party harms and whether either L or M have ways to minimize the harms.  Some of you in this context argued that the location was not suitable for the fair or there might be zoning limiting what the fair can do  Both seem very unlikely given that the fair has taken place at the same location for 120 years, although you might try to make these claims regarding the new rock concerts>


3) Assessment of the Balance and of “Serious Harm”:  Many students correctly identified the Restatement tests of balancing harms against utility and assessing “serious” harm , but made no attempt to analyze what the results of these tests would be.  I rewarded real discussion of these issues.  That said, it seems to me quite unlikely that a court would shut down a huge successful 120-year old event unless the harm was a lot more extensive than what is described here.  The rock concerts are a closer question because they are new and because they cause specific additional harm that can be addressed without interfering with the rest of the fair. 


4) Public Nuisance:  You could usefully discuss whether the harms here were widespread enough to support a public nuisance claim and whether M would have standing to raise the claim (almost certainly yes; he has harm specific to his lot).  A few people suggested that a Spur remedy might be in order here because the fair was operating before M (and presumably some other residents) purchased.  As noted above, I think a court is unlikely to enjoin the fair. Even if it did, unlike Del Webb, the residents probably wouldn’t have the necessary resources to make paying to relocate the fair a viable option.

B) Road Access:  Because K’s access began with a license that M ordinarily could revoke, she needs to have a theory about why she can keep using the road.  I gave a little credit to students who suggested that M might be able to stop the parades via nuisance law or zoning/permitting issues, but the question really targeted implied easements.  This is the kind of case I noted in class in which a permissive use and an easement by estoppel claim might evolve as time passes into an easement by prescription.  



A court is likely to find that M has notice of any implied easement.  L told him that K uses the road sometimes, which almost certainly creates a duty to inquire of K about the precise nature of her rights.   Note that you need to assess M’s notice at the time of sale; anything that happens afterward can’t help or hurt his status regarding notice.


1) Easement by Estoppel:  K will claim that, although her initial license was only for bad weather, she openly expanded her use of the road, and she reasonably assumed that L’s continued failure to object implied permission.  K will say that, in reliance on this permission and easy access to the fair in particular, she invested in extra buildings and livestock and her gypsy wagon.  M’s possible responses include the following:

· The jurisdiction might not recognize this type of easement.

· Not reasonable to rely on L’s silence where she may not have been aware of everything K was doing (room for 2-sided discussion) 

· Reliance not detrimental; other ways off ranch (depends on whether K’s expansion is dependent on use of the road for access to the fair or other aspects of her business.) Note that the scope of Karen’s easement depends on what is needed to take care of  reliance.

· K abandoned or reliance ended when K’s business collapsed.  Room to discuss  whether this constitutes abandonment and whether K’s rebuilding of the business might have been in reliance on continued use of the easement without objection.


2) Easement by Prescription:  K can argue that the many uses of the road that went beyond her explicit permission were adverse and that these uses were open and continuous until late 2004.  Her claim is plausible, depending on state law regarding the statute of limitations, the presumptions regarding permission, and the elements “exclusive” and “open & notorious.”  Note that she wouldn’t have claimed a public prescriptive easement, so the rules from Lyons were not applicable.   



The best answers noted that different uses began at different times (fair weather crossing in 1984; going to fair in 1989; wagon/parade in 1998) and so each use should be measured separately against the statute of limitations.  Because the scope of a prescriptive easement depends on the nature of the use during the statutory period, M may be able to stop the parade (if the statute of limitations is more than six years) even if he can’t stop ordinary fair weather crossings.(going on for 20 years).  Finally, I suspect that, if K has successfully acquired a prescriptive easement by late 2004, the subsequent two years of limited use in crisis conditions won’t be seen as abandonment.


3) Other Types of Servitudes



a) Express Easement/Scope Tests:  L’s oral permission could not create an express easement (you’d need a signed writing and other deed formalities).  The tests for scope of an express easement do not apply here.  The scope of an easement by estoppel is tied to the extent of the reliance.  The scope of a prescriptive easement is limited to the actual use during the statutory period.  As a matter of test technique, I’m highly unlikely to expect an extensive discussion of the scope tests in Question IV when they are the entire subject of  Question IIA.



b) Easements by Implication/Necessity:  These easements could only arise in the context of a division of a single parcel into Karen’s ranch and the two-acre residential lot, which didn’t happen here.



c) Promissory Servitudes:  L’s oral statement to K cannot be the basis of a promissory servitude.  First, L didn’t make a promise about what L would or would not do on her own land (promissory servitude), she gave K rights to use that land in the form of a right of way (license or easement).  Moreover, a promissory servitude has to arise out of a written document or a common scheme.

C) Access for Protest:  Most of you made straightforward arguments that L must give M access under JMB or the Schmid test  because the fair is a sufficiently public event and L allows access to political/charitable groups. Some of you also noted that the involvement of the County might increase M’s rights. Common problems included failure to understand the three Schmid factors, failure to recognize that many states don’t follow New Jersey’s standards from JMB/Schmid,  and the following:


1) Failure to Recognize L’s Best Arguments:  Many students gave very one-sided answers to this question favoring M.  You should at least have recognized that some jurisdictions don’t follow Schmid/JMB and might apply rules like those in Illinois noted in Brooke.  In addition, you could distinguish JMB at least three ways:

· If the fair charged a general admission fee, that would suggest a less open invitation than was true of the mall.

· The fair is only operating a couple of months of the year, which weakens the analogy to a town square.

· M’s message is an attack on the fair itself and JMB doesn’t address whether mall-owners have a duty to provide a forum for people directly attacking the mall or one of its tenants.

2) Role of Permissible Restrictions:  JMB and Shack both make clear that a landowner forced to admit people for policy reasons can impose reasonable restrictions on the outsiders’ access. While you could briefly refer to this in your answer, these restrictions are not very relevant to whether L ultimately has to admit M (unless you argue that L’s ability to impose these restrictions reduces her right to completely exclude).  You also need to avoid using permissible restrictions to avoid dealing with the harder questions built into the problem.  Two examples:

· A couple of students suggested that the political/charitable organizations had acquired permits and M had not.  Maybe this is true, but you then need to discuss whether L has to issue a permit to M if he applies.

· A couple of students suggested that, to get tossed out in 5 minutes, M must have engaged in violent or aggressive behavior.   I think this is a questionable factual assumption; it is easy to imagine fair security, with or without L’s approval, deciding that direct protest against the fair needed to be stopped at once.  In any event, of course L can exclude M if he is destroying property, shouting obscenities, and/or exposing himself to children.  Don’t use this possibility to avoid discussing what L can do if M is behaving himself.

Question 4Z: Student Answer #1:  [This is a terrific answer with a very strong sense of relevant doctrine and of how to use facts.  The discussions of nuisance and of access to the fair are particularly strong, and the discussion of the prescriptive easement is almost as good.] 
Nuisance:  To win on a private nuisance action, we must consider the nature of the harm balanced against the utility of the conduct.

The Fair: Nature of the harm:The extent and the character of the harm both seem fairly significant.  The fair-goers leave cause trash, noise, traffic, and trespassing problems.  However, M's lot is not suited very well to the locale.  If he is concerned about these issues, he should not have moved onto the lot so close to the fairgrounds.  Additionally, the problems with the fair existed before he move there, so he sould have known about them.  It would be useful to know of the town would have allowed someone beside L to build on that lot.  On the other hand, the community apparently allowed the home to be built there, so M could argue that his property rights must be protected like any other citizen.  One of the most important property rights is the protection of private property, and the owner's right to use and enjoyment.  Here those rights are clearly being violated.  Finally, it would be impossible for M to avoid the harm all together.

Utility of Conduct: The suitability of the fair to the location cannot be questioned.  The fair had been run on that location since 1885.  By this point, it has become a tradition embedded in the community.  The social value of the fair is also very high.  While L does take all profits from the fair, she does pay an annual fee to use the land (how much?).  It can also be assumed that because the fair draws tourists they stay in hotel, eat at restaurants, and help the local economy.  Further, local artist and vendors are also able to use the fair to peddle their wares.  The value to the community must also looked at in terms of culture, tradition, and enjoyment of all.  The practiability of moving the fair would be very little.  The fair has been on this location for many years, and seems to be embedded in the culture.  It would be possible to shorten the length of the fair or the hours, but the benefit to the comm seems so great that they would probably want it to run as long as possible.

Using the 1st Restatement, M would almost certainly get nothing as the benefits far outweight the burdens on the community.  However, under the 2nd Restatement, M might be able to collect damages.  This is because both the harm to M and the benefit to the comm are so great.  He could also try to get a public nuisance action with the others affected by the concert, but again the benefit is so great, and the burden while annoying is not life treatening.

The Rock Concert: M would have a better chance of winning a nuisance case for the rock concert.  It would be good to look to see if there was a noise ordinance to see if music played to late constituted a statutory nuisance, which he could have enforced.  However, unless that is the case, we have to do the balancing again. 


Nature of Harm: The extent and character of the harm is basically the same as above, except now people may be having sex on his property, which makes the extent much more significant (especially if he had children or was religious).  Also, his use and enjoyment of the property is more suited to the locale in this situation as the bandshell and concerts did not exist until after he bought the property.  


Utility of Conduct: The utility of the conduct is also much lower.  Because L was charging separate admission, this money was going straight into her pocket.  While the bands would probably draw additional tourists, the concerts are not embedded in the fabric of the community like the fair, which has been around so long.  Further, along with rock concerts seems to come a stigma of inappropriate behavior.  Unless the town was very young or very opent to this sort of thing, the leader of the community would prob not view the concerts with the same fondness.  However, the concert does seem suitable to the locale, and is prob bringing in a lot of extra money.  The fairgrounds is a typical place of people to congregrate and listen to music.  Maybe its possible that they could go elsewhere?  Are there any fields nearby that the concerts promoters could use?  If so, nearly all the benefits to the community would stay, and the nuisace would leave M.  But are other being bothered in the new location?

On balance, the same result for the fair nuisance would probably apply here.  Too much benefit to the community.  The only thing that might give M a chance would be a very conservative town, opposed to rock and roll, etc. (Footloose).  Damages here would be even more likely under the 2nd Restatement.

Can M be prevented from protesting at fair? Under the nature and extent of the invitation, everyone was invited, and other political groups are passing out info.  In terms of the purpose of the fair, it is a public gathering place.  Almost everyone in town is there.  Also fair came into existance with help of govt. ( Is M gathering signatures to have fair moved, is this an essential part of public policy in the state?)  Are there other places he can go to communicate with the crowd.  But these are the people he needs to talk to, they are the ones causing him provblems.  How does the the fair advertise itself?  The politial groups suggest the fair organizers are encoraging an enviornment of free speech.  The intersection the M's activity with the purpose of the fair seems reasonable.  Despite the fact that he is advertising against the fair, he seems to be doing so in an appropriate manner.  He is off with the other protestors, and among the crowd, bothering people who are trapped in lines.  Additionally, the L had invited all kinds of people to come to the fair, craftsmen, artists, band.  This seems to be functioning as a public space (like it used to be).  The only evidence on L's side is that M is directly challenging the fair itself.  However, this probably would not be significant enough to keep M from protesting (especially if in New Jersey).

Can M prevent K from using Road: First, we need to figure out what the license could have become: K could argue that she either had an Easement by Estoppel EE or an easement by prescription EP.  
EE in that she repaired the road, after L allowed her to use it.  But L said she could only use in bad weather, and K used it in all weather.  If L knew she was using it in all weather, and did not object.  This could be apparent allowance.  Later, M did not say anything either.  Because the K's crew fixed the road, this would be detrimental reliance.  It seems reasonable if the apparant allowance is okay.


On the other side of this, if the easement was not to be used by K except in bad weather, and L did not apparently allow the use.  The use could be adverse, depending upon the juris.  (Is there a presumption of allowance or disallowance?)  This is a private action, so the presumption is more likely to be hostile.  L never stopped K from using the road in good weather.  What is the statute of limitations period?  K's use is clealy open and notorious, M has actual notice.  Also L's children knew of the use.  However, is the type of use the same as was being used previously?  K did not start the gypsy parade until 1998.  If AP had been established by this time, it is not clear the the parade use is okay.  Further, if she has an easement, did the two years in which the parade was not put on constitute abaondoment?   Probably not, unless K expressed intent to abandon the easement; it is every hard to do so otherwise.

There was notice provided to M; L said K would be using the land, but only in good weather (see anaylsis above).  L referred to K as the gyspy lady.  Gypsy's do crazy things, like have parades.  Should M have known from this comment?

Question 4Z: Student Answer #2:  [This model  is  just a little weaker than the first.  The discussion of easement-by-estoppel was probably the strongest in the class and the discussions of nuisance and access were both quite solid.  The major weaknesses were that the student missed the prescriptive easement issue and really didn’t attempt to actually do the nuisance balancing.].

Nuisance:  It might be possible for M to bring an action for nuisance against L for the harm he is suffering from the fair, if he can show that the harm he suffers is greater than the utility of the fair to both Leigh and the greater community and that he did not act unreasonably in coming to the nuisance by moving in to a house that he knew was located next to a popular fair.


M will likely claim that the fair has had a significant negative impact on his property values, decreased his work production by depriving him of sleep, decreased his privacy when fair-goers wander on to his land, and caused physical harm from intruders littering while trespassing.  Such harm is likely to be deemed serious; however the actionability of a private nuisance claim he might have against Leigh (or the gov't as co-owner of the fair?) would depend upon the utility a court finds in the operation of the fair. The county does earn money from the fair's operations via the annual fee L pays.  Depending upon how significant that income is to the county's overall budget, it's utility might be great if it is the main source of income through which the city maintains and provides residents basic services. 


M would argue that such utility is undercut because the county receives the same amount regardless of the level of nuisance the fair causes, the profits accumulated by the rock concerts and increasing number visitors does not translate as any increased benefit to the county. L will argue that even if the county does not receive anymore money from her increased in business, the business in itself is good for the community as witnessed by the experience of K. Without the fair K's business would not be nearly as succesful, she would not have a place to effectively market her services or to promote her business. Further, the fair could also be good for the community spirit, an annual event eagerly awaited by residents every year. To prevent them from continuing the tradition could spread cause resentment and in the extreme make some people want to leave the area. (If they depended on it for their business or really wanted to be near some place where they could go to a fair).


 L will also argue that M came to the nuisance fully aware that the fair was next door and that he only has to put up with it for a limited number of months each year. In regards to notice, it may be that M assumed since L had lived there herself she would know the harms a homeowner might suffer and try to avoid them, or that the harms have substantially increased with her building the rock concert and that such a structure was in no way foreseeable at the time he bought the land. The rock concerts bring arguably less utility to the community as they do not directly employ as many local residents as the booths at the fair. Instead the profits accumulate solely in L. M may have other issues with rock concert: could L have chosen to place the band shell at another location on the property that would not have been as close to M's property and resulted in the crowds not dispersing onto his land, could L schedule the rock concerts at different times or enforce ending times so that they do not run as late when normal people are trying to sleep? Are there any precautions she can take to prevent her visitors from trespassing onto M's land such as installing a fence? L might argue that a simple solution to avoid the trespassing would be within M's abilities, that instead he could construct the fence.  

Easement:  Where no formal written agreement was made between L & K, either a revocable license or an implied easement will likely be found to have existed and regulated K's use of the road.  It is possible that L intended K's use to only be a revocable license, and that she really only intended to allow K to use it when the weather was bad. However, given that L did not enforce the restriction that K only use the road when the whether was bad and that K has invested money in building structures on her property to take advantage of access to the private road, it is possible that during L's ownership of the 2 acre parcel, K acquired an EbyEstoppel. 


K in no way tried to hide her use of the private road outside the context of bad weather; instead she actively seeked attention by throwing a parade and building a brightly colored gypsy wagon. Given that L's children had seen the parade almost every year, her lack of notice seems unfounded. Even if she was busy and never saw the parade herself, it is likely that at some point over the years, L did hear about the parades either by her children or by members of the community at large (given that it was such a popular event). L's lack of actual knowledge about the scope of K's use of the private road was no fault of K's but rather the carelessness of L and K would argue that she should not be punished for relying on the constant lack of action by L especially given her reliance interest in continued used of the road.  K would also argue she has made investments in the road by patching it up and that she should reap the benefit of those investments so long as the road lasts. A response to that argument would be that she was only re-paying the land owner for her unauthorized use of the easement, repairing the damages that she caused by her overuse.


While such an easement by estoppel may have been upheld against L, it is possible that it would not be enforceable against M given K's lack of use during the period when she was rebuilding her business. If her reliance interest was wiped out with the destruction of her farm, and she abandonded the out of scope use of the road during that time period, she might have lost her right to re-use the easement for such purposes in the future. If her easement was an EbyE, then at the time she no longer had a reliance interest she would also have lost use of the easement in the manner necessary to maintain that interest, and have had no right to resume use later after rebuilding.


In such a case of abandonment of the use of the easement for non-weather related purposes, M might be likely to enforce a limitation upon K's use of the easement to those terms for which he received actual notice: only in bad weather. M had no notice of K's use of the easement for any other purpose and K's subsequent resumption of the use would not be binding upon M because K did not rely on any promises made by M that she would be allowed to resume use of the easement for parades. K might argue after the season where she did reassert her use given M's failure to respond to it, he too gave her an EbyE upon which she relied on for the rest of the fair. 

Right to Exclude:  An analysis of L's right to exclude M would likely include an application of the JMB Realty test given that the fair is a partially public space which invites the public to make use of its facilities. In a sense, like the shoppingmall in that case, the fair functions as a town center where people gather for several months of the year. While it would be dependent upon the rules of the jurisdiction (common law or civil rights act), L may have problems excluding M given the great numbers of people she does allow into the fair every day (its relatively public access), the joint ownership of the fair as a whole by her and the county, and given the fact that she allows other groups to set up booths already. M would argue that there would be no additional costs for providing security or adding tables to allow him to protest, such measures are already likely to have been taken for the purposes of the fair in general and given the use of the facilities by the chartitable and political groups. M will aslo assert that he is trying to provide information to other members of the community. M may not be the only one negatively affected by the noise and other harms of the fair and other county residents who are suffering in silence might benefit from knowing that someone else is being negatively harmed (Potential public nuisance suit if enough people are secretly upset?)  M would also stress the importance that at least some of the land is owned by the county and that as a publicly owned space, citizens should be afforded additional priviledges under the town center theory. 


L will likely argue that M's purpose in protesting is different from that of the other organizations currently allowed and different from the cases where the government limited an owner's ability to exlude protesters on the basis of the facility functioning as a town center. Here M is not simply trying to give general information to the public about an unrelated social cause, rather he is specifically attacking the business of L. Given that attack, the likelihood he will cause harm to L is much greater than the likelihood a general leafletter would cause to a mall. While in JMB the leaf-letter might have detracted from business due to people's distaste for protesters in general, here M's actions would directly threaten L's business by causing people to view the fair in an unfavorable light. M might argue that holding a sign does not mean he will cause damage (physical) to the property or that he will require L to provide additional security.

� You can usefully apply a dissent on an exam in the following situations:





(a) A question tells you to apply the dissent’s rule





(b) An issue-spotting question does not tell you what rule applies.  You then can say, “If the state follows the Poletown majority … But if the state applies the rule proposed by the Poletown dissent ….”





(c) An opinion/dissent question asks to decide which rule ought to apply to an issue discussed by a dissenting opinion we’ve read.  Your “majority” opinion can adopt the position of the earlier dissent.





� This sentence can be replaced with a shorter heading.





� Generally better to save your conclusion until after you’ve done analysis.





� Clever point re saving Einstein.  





� Always useful to discuss parallel to facts of case.  Here, might be more explicit about what those facts suggest about meaning of primary beneficiary.





� Good idea suggesting that the benefit to public is greater, the more eminent domain is necessary to achieve goals.  Although answer raises good points about the extent of the benefit on each side, needs to be more explicit about how to decide which benefits are “primary.”





� Careful with terminology; test examines “public benefit” not “public use.”





� Good detailing significance of ivy, but helpful to keep discussion focused on terms of the test: although you student terms “significant” and “clear,” the issue is not whether the “public concern” is significant, but whether the benefits from the ivy are “significant.”





� Good point re statistical effectiveness, but helpful to elaborate more. Might specify ways in which this might change result (few people helped; few types of cancer cured, etc.) 





� Student suggests parallel to GM and jobs; helpful to make it explicit:  “As in Poletown itself, the state anticipates a great benefit to society here …”





� Need to focus more tightly on test in this analysis.  Test asks you to compare the benefit to the public with the benefit to the private company.  Student doesn’t do that explicitly.  Also might push harder to find counterarguments.





� Nice point that the public benefit can’t be achieved w/o private profit.





�  At this point, student could usefully discuss whether a lone man jogging on land suggests that he has an ownership interest.





� Student needs to be clear here that if seeing jogger is inquiry notice, C has to inquire of B (not A) to satisfy her inquiry requirement. This would be a better argument if C had asked a neighbor who B was and the neighbor had said, “A’s trainer.”





� This is a nice policy point that could be clarified more:  because it would be so easy for C to inquire of B under these circumstances, not unreasonable to put burden on her to do so.


 


�  This sentence can easily be replaced with the heading:  “record notice”





� “Under the majority test and certainly under the minority test….” is not specific enough.  Helpful to explain briefly: (a) test for what? (b) what the tests are (c) why this fails them.





�   Very good seeing that it depends on what C is told and going through both possibilities.  A similar analysis applies regarding what name A used to sign paperwork.  Student could be more specific as to consequences:  If C can find the A(B deed, she has record notice of B’s interest; no need to rely on “fishiness” of lack of prior grant.





� Starting with conclusion is not best use of time.  Also, probably worthwhile to do types of jurisdictions separately to emphasize that the name change has two consequences:  arguably not record notice and arguably not properly recorded.





� Good giving policy behind operation of rule.





� Room to discuss in more detail arguments about whether we should hold title-holders to notice of famous marriages.





� Room for discussion here about whether a stray jogger would make a reasonable person think the jogger might own the property.





� Again, if seeing B jogging is inquiry notice of B’s claim, she has to inquire of B (not A) to satisfy her inquiry requirement, because A has incentive to lie.





� Good seeing Zimmer Rule issue.  Helpful to elaborate a bit more how and why it will operate here.  (E.g., it’s a rule for race-notice states)





� Can replace this sentence with a heading.





� Useful to clarify how adverse possession issue arises.





� Good beginning with statute of limitations.  Again, this sentence could be replaced with a subheading.





� Helpful to start with legal test before listing facts.





� Nice points re C’s use of land.  Room for more discussion of whether Linck test is met. Might note that under other tests (Fl. statute; Van Valk.) C does less well than under Linck.





� Misconstrues test.  Focus is whether the activity could be seen by somebody who was on the property (objective) , not whether B did or could have seen them given his minimal use (subjective).  E.g., if his jogging trail didn’t run by a cottage she had built, he wouldn’t see it, but still O&N.





� Good seeing relevant test and citing to Kunto.  Again, need to discuss in more depth whether test was met.





� Good seeing Penn statute issue.  Room to argue in depth whether B’s return is sufficient to break exclusivity.





� This is fine for this straightforward element.





� Good on color of title and consequences except that, while color of title does lower actual requirement, relevance of her understanding about what she had to do is not clear.  





� Intro paragraph not best use of time.  1st sentence can be replaced by a heading.  Rather than listing elements at outset, raise them one by one as you discuss them. Save time by using names of individual elements as subheadings.





�  No points for stating your conclusions (either on the whole issue or on individual elements) before you have done any analysis.





� Room to discuss more whether  this is the way a normal owner would use it.





� This is fine for this small issue.





� This is a nice discussion of actual; good use of facts and comparison to cases.  Might push harder on her best argument, which is that this may be normal use of nature preserve type property.





� Good point re open & notorious, although if a court decided that the actual & continuous requirements are met, it might hold that the uses she made were all visible to someone on surface because they all involved her physical presence on the land.





�  Need to be aware that if statute 7 years or less, she might have adversely possessed before he re-entered. Also helpful to discuss somewhere that if  statute is greater than 13 years, C loses (e.g., Penn: 21).





� Some good points in discussion of exclusive (comparison to 3 weeks; Penn statute).  Could discuss more whether jogging should count as an assertion of ownership.  It is a smaller act in some ways than the building materials (not constant presence) and it is the sort of thing that trespassers do all the time.





�  Long concluding sentence repeating points already made is not best use of time.








